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The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of China CBM Group Company Limited
(“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) hereby announces the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018. This announcement, containing the
full text of the 2018 annual report of the Company, complies with the relevant requirements
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) in relation to information to accompany preliminary
announcements of the annual results.
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Hong Kong, 27 March 2019

As at the date hereof, the executive directors are Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng and Mr. Fu Shou
Gang and the independent non-executive directors are Mr. Luo Wei Kun, Mr. Lau Chun Pong
and Mr. Wang Zhi He.

This announcement, for which the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in
this announcement is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this announcement misleading.

This announcement will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM
website for at least 7 days from the date of its posting.
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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE™)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility
for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any
liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading and that all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration
and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements” page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at
least seven days from the date of its publication.
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China CBM Group Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) currently conduct the business of
manufacture and sales of liquefied coalbed gas whose operations
are located in the PRC. The Company was incorporated in Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited liability in July 2002
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liabilities in accordance with the Company Act 1981 (as amended)
of Bermuda. It was initially listed on the GEM (“GEM”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 12 August 2003.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liguefaction production and sales of natural gas in the PRC.
Headquartered in Tianjin. The Group’s production of liquefied
coalbed gas is in Shanxi Qinshui Basin which boasts the richest
liquefied coalbed gas, while its distribution network extends to
Shanxi, Guangxi and Guangdong Provinces, etc..

In order to stabilise our natural gas supply and hence raise the
utilisation of our liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) plant, the Group has
made significant investment in resources exploration and exploitation
at the coalbed methane blocks located in Yangcheng, Shanxi since
July 2011. The Group had successfully supplied gas to the LNG
plant. The commercial production of coalbed gas has transformed
our Group into a vertically integrated natural gas company and
continued to enhance our leading position in China’s unconventional
gas market.

The Group will adhere to the principle of “social responsibility is of
overriding importance” while exploring and developing in the new
energy sector with an aim to provide the world with high-quality
clean energy and keep improving and promoting the harmonious
coexistence of man and nature.
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the audited financial results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

OVERALL BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, we have achieved the goal of turning
ourselves into a vertically integrated natural gas producer with
complete value chain businesses. We have established a complete
business process covering Coalbed Methane (“CBM?”) extraction,
liquefaction, pipelines and highway transportation, distribution
network and technical services. The Group adjusted its business
in 2018 by suspending the LNG business, but its CBM extraction
and production business did not stop. As at 31 December 2018,
we have completed the groundwork and drilling of 244 wells in
the Yangcheng gas block which resulted in stable increase of the
number of production wells and gas output. Due to suspension of
production by the Qinshui Shuntai LNG plant, the developed natural
gas would be delivered directly to customers by pipeline.

EXTRACTION AND PRODUCTION BUSINESS
REVIEW

During 2018, the construction of new wells was somewhat affected
by our focus on improving capabilities of production wells. As at
31 December 2018, we have completed the ground work and drilling
of a total of 244 CBM wells, of which 199 wells were producing gas.
The gas output volume of the existing production wells amounts to
850 cubic meters per day per well on average. Thanks to the stable
gas output in gas blocks, the Group has generated revenue, profit
and cash flow from the business of exploitation of natural gas, and
its profitability and cash flow position will be further improved as the
number and capabilities of production wells further increase.
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MARKETING BUSINESS REVIEW

After years of development, the Group has developed a diversified
customer base comprising industrial, commercial and resident
customers and established complete distribution channel and
network. In addition, we have also taken different measures to
maximise the profitability of our gas sale. In 2018, we used different
sales mix and flexibly selected various equipment such as pipeline,
cylinder group, gas station and skid-mounted equipment to sell gas
to our customers. With commencement of the related work, we will
be able to reduce the uncertainty in future natural gas sales and
optimise our sales mix, i.e. shifting towards a balanced mix from a
residential user dominated mix.

EMPHASIS ON TECHNOLOGIES ADVANCEMENT

In order to ensure the smooth development of our exploration
and production business and the continuous improvement of
technologies, and to maintain our leading position in technological
advancement, we actively worked with research institutes to build
and expand our professional technical team, so as to provide
professional and advanced technical services to our exploration and
liquefaction production business. In the future, we will be investing
heavily in developing and advancing our CBM extraction technology
and techniques.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to observing
its environmental and social responsibility, in order to ensure
sustainable development of its business. To the knowledge of
the Directors, the Group has complied with all material relevant
applicable laws and regulations in relation to its business including
employment and the environment. The Group encourages
employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to
participate in environmental and social activities. The Company as
a leading CBM company will seize opportunities to grow our CBM
business on a long term sustainable basis.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The bye-laws provide that the directors shall be indemnified out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of
them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices.

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for the directors and
directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

OUTLOOK

At present, demand for natural gas is increasing in China with huge
growth potential. As pollution is worsening in China, governments at
all levels are placing more emphasis on development of clean energy,
which shows great potential in further development, recognizing the
rising advocacy of safer — especially under the recent nuclear power
crisis — and cleaner energy. However, the existing conventional natural
gas production is unlikely to satisfy China’s strong demand of natural
gas in the coming years; and we believe that it is inevitable that the
PRC government would need to encourage the unconventional gas
production. With all the favourable policies and measures in place,
there is no doubt that the Company, as a leading CBM company,
will gain major benefits. We will seize this opportunity to grow our
CBM business on a long term sustainable basis and would try our
very best to maximize our shareholders’ investment return.

To carry through the Group’s spirit of advancement by innovation,
the Group has since the beginning of 2017 commenced the research
and development (R&D) on natural gas production by coal. The
Group has entered into in-depth strategic cooperation with Institute
of Process Engineering under Chinese Academy of Sciences on
projects of researching, developing and commercializing the natural
gas production by coal. The projects of natural gas production
by coal at Guangxi Beiliu and Hebei Nuoxin are expected to start
production in the second quarter of 2019 with an average daily
output of 200,000 cubic meters. We will strive to increase the daily
output to 800,000 cubic meters by the end of 2019. The Group’s
wells and projects of natural gas production by coals are expected
to provide stable natural gas supply to its LNG plants in 2019.
Therefore, the Group expects the LNG business to resume operation
in the second quarter of 2019.
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Lastly, | would like to take this opportunity to thank our team for
all their hard work in the past years for turning the Group a better
enterprise than | have ever seen. Going forward, | believe that our
team will pay more efforts in making the Group a leading enterprise
in China’s CBM industry and other innovative industries.

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

27 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
RMB168,097,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018,
representing an decrease of approximately 5.86% compared with
year ended 31 December 2017. It is mainly due to (1) although
the increased in the sales to industrial customer in Guangxi leads
to the increase of sales of piped natural gas for the year ended
31 December 2018; (2) the stable output volume of the coalbed
methane wells in our coalbed methane blocks located in Yangcheng;
(8) however, the decrease of 87.17% in sales of liquefied coalbed
gas and provision of liquefied coalbed gas logistic services set off
the increase of the sales of piped natural gas.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 of approximately
RMB105,686,000 compared with that of approximately
RMB70,219,000 for the year ended 31 December 2017. The
increase in loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
as a result of the turn around from the reasons for the increase are
as follows:

(i)  other income and gains or losses decreased from gain of
approximately RMB1,591,000 to loss of approximately
RMB13,096,000 in 2018, it mainly due to written off of other
receivables and property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB8,000,000 and approximately RMB23,817,000
respectively in 2018.

(i) impairment loss on property, plant and equipment of
approximately RMB31,617,000 and impairment loss on trade
and other receivable of approximately RMB39,090,000 were
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT
PROSPECTS

Resources and reserves

Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development Company Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Huiyang New Energy”) has interest in
certain CBM properties located at Shanxi Province, the PRC. The
Yangcheng area is approximately 96 km? in the Shanxi Province, the
PRC. Development within the Yangcheng gas block is focused on
the #3 and #15 coal seams. These CBM properties are located at
various coal mine areas owned by Shanxi Yangcheng Yangtai Group
Industrial Company Limited. Huiyang New Energy is a joint venture
company and 60% of its equity interests is held by one of the wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Group.

The movements in the reserves of certain CBM properties as of
31 December 2018 are set out below:
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Reserve Reserve

evaluation evaluation

of the CBM of the CBM

properties properties

as at as at

31 December 2018 31 March 2012

BCF BCF
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HEBREE HWEBREE

RETE RETME

HEIZFER HEIZHFER

Total original gas in place EREHNFRIERAATMERESE 2,724 2,724
on all blocks

Net 1P (Proved) reserves BEE(P) FERFE=E 1,419 35

Net 2P (Proved + Probable) EEE IR P FHEE 1,869 277

reserves
Net 3P (Proved + Probable + & B INBLES hn el g8 BP) ) F = 2,282 2,050

Possible) reserves

The change in the 1P, 2P and 3P is based on the professional advice
by the Engineer of our Group.
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MEXER -



T \EER HEREREBEERAF]

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The reserve evaluation of the CBM properties as at 31 March 2012 is
the results of evaluation conducted by an independent, US-licensed
natural gas reserve engineer, Netherlands, Sewell & Associates, Inc.
(“NSAI”") engaged by the Company in 2011 to evaluate the CBM
properties reserves.

Due to continued development of the gas field blocks by the
Company, the number and scope of the gas production wells
are relatively increased as compared with that of 2012, enabling
the Company to collect more data about the CBM properties to
evaluate the CBM properties more accurately. Accordingly, the
Company engaged an independent professional valuer in the PRC
in July 2014 to evaluate certain CBM properties of “Huiyang New
Energy” in terms of net 3P (Proved + Probable + Possible) reserves,
net 2P (Proved + Probable) reserves and net 1P (Proved) reserves
based on substantially the same definitions and guidelines as that
of NSAI in 2012. According to the results of the evaluation, the
total original gas in place on all blocks was generally unchanged as
compared with that of NSAI in 2012. Based on the current costs for
developing wells, the technical department of the Group estimates
the capital expenditure for each well to be approximately RMB1.4
million, mainly comprising of road maintenance fees of approximately
RMBO0.09 million, drilling expenses of approximately RMB0.86
million, well testing fees of approximately RMB0.04 million and costs
of equipment and materials of approximately RMB0.41 million.

Gas volumes are expressed in billion of cubic feet (BCF) at standard
temperature and pressure bases. The reserves shown in the above
table are estimates only and should not be construed as exact
quantities. Proved reserves are those quantities of oil and gas
which, by analysis of engineering and geoscience data, can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable;
probable and possible reserves are those additional reserves which
are sequentially less certain to be recovered than proved reserves.
Estimates of reserves may increase or decrease as a result of market
conditions, future operations, changes in regulations, or actual
reservoir performance.
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BEE R DN

Natural Gas Exploration and Extraction

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has completed the ground
work and drilling of 244 CBM wells, among which 199 wells were
in production, representing decrease in 30 wells compared with the
number of wells at the end of 2017. The existing gas output wells
produce approximately 850 cubic meters of gas on average per day.

Marketing and Sales

During 2018, the marketing and sales systems did not change
significantly and the personnel structure and sales strategies
basically remained the same. Affected by overall environment,
the sales price during traditional peak periods did not represent a
substantial increase as the previous year, by contrast, the sales price
took on a descending trend, which, to some extent, has affected the
sales performance.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net assets of
approximately RMB223,225,000, including cash and bank balances
of approximately RMB17,256,000. To minimize financial risks, the
Group implements stringent financial and risk management strategies
and avoids the use of highly-geared financing arrangements. The
Group’s gearing ratio, calculated by the Group’s total external
borrowings divided by its shareholders’ fund, was approximately
28.61% as at 31 December 2018 (2017: 23.97%).

The Group is opportunistic in obtaining financing to further improve
the cash position given that the natural gas drilling program is capital
intensive. If the Group has adequate financing in the future (whether
it is from internal cash flow due to increased gas sales, or from
fund raising), the Group will accelerate the drilling program. Apart
from the intended investment in upstream CBM exploration and
extraction, the Group does not have any other plan for acquisition or
investment, disposal or scale-down of any current business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Employees

As at 31 December, 2018, the employees of the Group totaled
407, among which 69 were R&D staff and 202 were project and
customer service staff; 113 were administration staff and 23 were
marketing and sales staff. During the year, the total cost of staff
(including the remuneration of the Board Directors) recognised in
profit or loss account was approximately RMB23,221,000 (2017:
approximately RMB28,819,000). The remuneration and salary
packages and dividend policy of the Group were determined based
on the individual performance of staff. The Group will continue to
offer professional further studies and training to staff.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

In view of the continuing operating losses of certain subsidiaries
operating in the PRC during the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017, the directors of the Company have performed impairment
assessment on the property, plant and equipment of these
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. The recoverable
amounts of these property, plant and equipment have been
determined by an independent professional valuer, Asset Appraisal
Limited (“Asset Appraisal”) based on value-in-use calculations. The
pretax discount rates in measuring the amounts of value-in-use
range from 25% to 31% per annum in relation to these property,
plant and equipment (2017: range from 24% to 27% per annum).
There has been no change from the valuation technique used in
prior year. As a result of the impairment assessment, no impairment
loss had been recognised in respect of these property, plant and
equipment during the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB
Nil).

However, due to obsolescence, an impairment loss of approximately
RMB39,090,000 (2017: RMB8,329,000) was recognised in respect
of certain property, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, certain property, plant
and equipment amounted to approximately RMB23,817,000 was
written off due to wear and tear.
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Risk in Foreign Exchange

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisitions and
Disposal of Subsidiaries and Associated Companies

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no significant
investment, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies by the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

The upstream business of the Company is improving steadily and
the well construction and gas output are both increasing constantly.
During 2018, the Company made technological upgrade to some
old wells to improve production capacity and output, laying a solid
foundation for the Company’s long-term performance. However, the
shortage in supply of raw gas kept handicapping the Company. Daily
gas output of the upstream business was insufficient to allow the
500,000 cubic meters daily production capacity of liquefaction plants
to be fully unleased. In view of this, the Group commenced the R&D
on natural gas production by coal in 2018, and invited Institute of
Process Engineering under Chinese Academy of Sciences to provide
technological guidance. As at the date of this report, the experiment
on natural gas production by coal was largely completed. The Group
intends to commence the first stage of the project of natural gas
production by coal in June 2018 on a pilot basis, with a daily output
of 200,000 cubic meters. In addition, the Group plans to increase the
daily output to 800,000 cubic meters by the end of 2019. The Group
also plans to resume its LNG business in 2019, as the number of
upstream wells and gas output are both steadily increasing, the
group successfully developed natural gas production by coal and
LNG price stabilized and saw upward momentum in the second half
of 2018. The Group’s raw gas supply will be further consolidated
and the advantage of vertical integration business will emerge. The
production capacity of liquefaction plants will be fully unleashed. In
2019, the stable supply from self-produced well gas and natural gas
production by coal, the Company will be gradually less affected by
external factors and the uncontrollable risks involved in the operation
of the Company will become less. It is projected that by the end of
2019, the daily output of gas exploration business will break through
beyond 200,000 cubic meters, and daily output of natural gas
production by coal will reach about 800,000 cubic meters.

As there are growing concerns over the environmental issues, it is
foreseen that the highly-polluted energy will be eliminated from the
market more rapidly and the use of replaceable clean energy will be
more popular, resulting in a keener market demand for natural gas.
The demand growth of natural gas market will continue to retain its
strong momentum. Management of the Company will spare no effort
in overcoming difficulties and be devoted to making contribution to
the Company’s profit margin and long-term development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(a)

(b)

Application of Corporate Governance Principles

The Group is committed to promoting good corporate
governance, with the objectives of (i) the maintenance
of responsible decision making, (ii) the improvement in
transparency and disclosure of information to shareholders, (iii)
the continuance of respect for the rights of shareholders and
the recognition of the legitimate interests of shareholders, and (iv)
the improvement in crisis management and the enhancement
of performance by the Group. The Group has applied the
principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules
with these objectives in mind.

Promulgation of Company’s Corporate Governance
Code

To this end, the Group has promulgated a set of code on
corporate governance (the “Company Code”) which sets out
the corporate standards and practices used by the Group
to direct and manage its business affairs. It is prepared by
reference to the principles, code provisions and recommended
best practices set out in the Code, which came into effect on
1 January 2005. In addition to formalising existing corporate
governance principles and practices, the Company Code
also serves the purpose of assimilating existing practices
with benchmarks prescribed by the Code and ultimately
ensuring high transparency and accountability to the Group’s
shareholders.
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() Compliance of Company Code and the code
provisions under the Code (the “Code Provisions”)

The Group has complied with all provisions in the Company
Code and the Code Provisions under the Code during the
year ended 31 December 2018 save for code provisions A.2.1
and A.4.1 of the Code, details of the derivation and reason for
derivation are set out in the paragraphs headed “Chairman
and Chief Executive” and “Appointment term of Non-executive
Directors” of this corporate governance report.

The Company Code contains all the Code Provisions of the
Code and other provisions.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than those as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have complied with
the required standard of dealings and code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors as set out in the Company’s
code of conduct for the year 2018.

BOARD COMPOSITION, ROLE AND FUNCTION

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company through direction and supervision of
the Company’s business and affairs.

The Board comprises a total of five Directors, comprising two
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman),
and Mr. Fu Shou Gang and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Luo Wei Kun, Mr. Wang Zhi He and Mr.
Lau Chun Pong. Mr. Lau Chun Pong has appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and financial management expertise as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent
Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of
the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2018,
there were three independent non-executive Directors in the Board
and the number of independent non-executive Directors represents
at least one-third of the Board. The Company has also complied with
Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that one of
the independent non-executive Directors must possess appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Board considers that the independent
non-executive Directors are all independent persons with appropriate
qualifications or expertise and the Company has complied with the
relevant requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the Code. In 2018, the
Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, (b) training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, (c)
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, (d) the Company’s code of conduct and ()
the Company’s compliance with the Code disclosure requirements.

Appointment Term of Non-executive Directors

Under code provision A.4.1 of the Code, non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Currently, the independent non-executive Directors have no
fixed term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the
Company'’s Articles of Association. As such, the Company considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to serve the purpose of this
code provision.
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Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the management of the Company and is collectively responsible
for appointing and supervising senior management to ensure that
the operations of the Group are conducted in accordance with the
objectives of the Group. The principal roles of the Board are:

e to lay down the Group’s objectives, strategies, policies and
business plans;

e to monitor and control operating and financial performance
through the determination of the annual budget; and

e to formulate internal control policies and set appropriate policies
to manage risks in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board is directly accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for preparing the accounts.

Delegation by the Board

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management responsibility
to the management staff under the instruction/supervision of the
Board.

The management staff of the Company are principally responsible
for:

1. exercising all such other powers and perform all such other
acts as may be exercised and performed by the Directors, save
and except for those that may specifically be reserved by the
Board and/or the committees set up by the Board for decision
and implementation; or those that may only be exercised by the
Board pursuant to the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations;

2. formulating and/or implementing policies for business activities,
internal controls and administration of the Company;
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3. planning and deciding the Company’s strategies on its business
activities; and

4. keeping proper written records of its decisions taken which
may be inspected by any members of the Board or the Board
committees upon request.

The Board will review the above arrangements on a periodic basis to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Prior to the retirement of Mr.
Feng San Li on 26 November 2012, Mr. Feng San Li was holding the
title of CEO. Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is the chairman of the Board.
After Mr. Feng’s retirement, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng continues
to act as the chairman and the duties of the chief executive have
been undertaken by the other executive Director. The Board meets
regularly to consider major matters affecting the business and
operations of the Group. The Board considers that this structure
will balance the power and authority between the Board and
management and believes that this structure enables the Group to
make and implement decision promptly and efficiently.

BOARD OPERATION

Regular Board meetings are held normally every three months, with
additional meetings arranged, if and when required. In 2018, the
Board held 7 meetings.
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The attendance record of each member of the Board at board
meetings and general meetings of the Company are set out below:

TEERRE
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Attendance of Attendance of
Board Meetings General Meetings

EESTRUREER RRELEE

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)
TRBEAE (/)

Mr. Fu Shou Gang

&I 5% 4

Independent Non-executive Directors

BAKBITES
Mr. Lau Chun Pong
ZRF R4

Mr. Luo Wei Kun
BEERE

Mr. Wang Zhi He
T4k

7/7 1/1
7/7 1/1
/7 1/1
7/7 1/1
7/7 1/1

Note: Number of board meeting and general meeting held during the tenure of the Director

Directors are free to contribute alternative views at meetings and
major decisions would only be taken after deliberation at Board
meetings. Directors who are considered having conflict of interests
or material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed would not be counted in the quorum of meeting and
would abstain from voting on the relevant resolution.

All Directors have access to the company secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are complied
with, and advising the Board on compliance matters.
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Directors’ Duties

Every Director is required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a
director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company:

e A comprehensive director’s handbook is issued to every
Director, which sets out guidelines on conduct by making
reference to the relevant sections of the statutes or the GEM
Listing Rules, and reminds Directors of their responsibilities
in making disclosure of their interests and potential conflict of
interests.

e  Orientation programmes are organised for providing induction
to new Directors to help them familiarise with the Company’s
management, business and governance practices.

e  Management provides appropriate and sufficient information
to Directors and the committee members in a timely manner to
keep them apprised of the latest development of the Group and
enable them to discharge their responsibilities. Directors also
have independent and unrestricted access to senior executives
of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. Directors’
training is an ongoing process. During the year ended 31 December
2018, Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition,
all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from
time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices.

Attending
seminar(s) or
programme(s)/
reading relevant
materials in
relation to the
business, GEM
Listing Rules or
directors’ duties

(Yes/No)
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng Yes
Mr. Fu Shou Gang Yes
Mr. Lau Chun Pong Yes
Mr. Luo Wei Kun Yes
Mr. Wang Zhi He Yes

The briefing sessions covered topics including the Code, listed
company regulations and disclosure obligations in Hong Kong,
discloseable transactions and connected transactions etc.
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REMUNERATION PAID TO MEMBERS OF KEY

MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration paid to member of key management (exclude
Director) fell within the following band:

EIRFEEEEASNH M

XN FEBERAR FREES) HHH
ARNFUTHE

2018 2017
—E-—N\F e
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AR A
Nil ~ HK$1,000,000 Z % %7c1,000,000 7T
(equivalent to approximately (FEZE M AR 844,0007T
RMB844,000 (ZZ—+F: AR%867,0007T))
(2017: RMB867,000) 3 4

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on policies and
structure for remuneration of directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing such policy on remuneration;

(b) to make recommendations to the Board the remuneration
packages for executive Directors and senior management and
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun Pong
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The duties of
Remuneration Committee is to review and make recommendations
to the remuneration policy and packages of the executive Directors
and executives.
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In 2018, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting. The
attendance record of each member of the Remuneration Committee
is set out below:

TEERRE

Attendance
HER
Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) 11
RS (£ /E)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 1/1
BEESTHE
Mr. Wang Zhi He 1/1
FzA%kE

During the meeting, members of the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the remuneration packages and overall benefits of the
Directors by taking into account factors (such as remuneration
packages and benefits offered by comparable companies, the
respective contribution of each of the Directors to the Group and the
business objectives of the Group).

The executive Directors are responsible for reviewing all relevant
remuneration data and market conditions as well as the performance
of individuals and the profitability of the Group, and proposing to
the remuneration committee for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee performed the major work as below:

1. reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy and structure
of the Company and the remuneration and performance of
duties of the executive Directors and senior management in the
year under review; and

2. made recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 12 August 2005 for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(@) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship; and

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or reappointment of directors and
succession planning for directors.

In August 2013, the Board has adopted its board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against selection
criteria based on a range of diversity perspectives, which would
include but not be limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee is made up of all of the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Zhi He
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Lau Chun Pong.
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In 2018, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The IREZZEERN T \FEHRIT— NS -
attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee is REZESENENDLELENT
set out below:

Attendance

HEE

Mr. Wang zhi He (Chairman) 11
T2 MEE(EE)
Mr. Lau Chun Pong 1/1
LR FB L A
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 11
BEBELE
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At the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Company’s Board of Directors, made
reference to criteria including, inter alia, reputation for integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry, professional
and educational background, and commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest. The Nomination Committee was satisfied
with the existing composition of the Board and recommended no
change in the near future, and performed the major work as below:

1. examined the structure, size and composition of the Board, to
ensure the Directors have the expertise, skills and experience
required to meet the Company’s business;

2. assessed the independency of all independent non-executive
Directors; and

3. made recommendations to the Board in this regard.

AMENDMENT TO THE TERMS OF REFERENCE OF
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The terms of reference of the nomination committee of the Company
was amended on 14 August 2013 to include the review of the
Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the said policy as one of its duty.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 28 July 2003 and currently comprises all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Chun Pong
(Chairman), Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Wang Zhi He. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual
reports, financial statements, half year reports and quarterly reports;
(b) to serve as a focal point for communication between Directors,
the external auditors and internal auditors; (c) to assist the Board
in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an independent review
and supervision of financial reporting, and the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control and risk management system; and (d) to
review the appointment of external auditors on an annual basis as
well as to ensure independence of the continuing auditors.
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In 2018, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The attendance
record of each member of the Audit Committee is set out below:

RZZE-N\BRITOREE -

Attendance
HEE
Mr. Lau Chun Pong (Chairman) 4/4
BURF AL (/)
Mr. Luo Wei Kun 4/4
BHRERE
Mr. Wang Zhi He 4/4
FzAEE
At the meetings, the Audit Committee has carefully reviewed the Aozl ERZEeFHEEMNAR

Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and its system
of internal control and has made suggestions to improve them. The
Audit Committee also carried out and discharged its other duties
set out in Code. In the course of doing so, the Audit Committee has
met the company’s management several times during year 2018.
Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access to the
Group’s external auditors and the management.

During the financial year 2018, the Audit Committee has held four
meetings. The Group’s results for the year 2018 have been reviewed
and commented by the Audit Committee members, and performed
the major works as below:

1. reviewed the annual financial results and report for the year
ended 31 December 2017, interim financial results and report
for the six months ended 30 June 2018 and quarterly financial
results and reports for each of the three months ended 31
March 2018 and 30 September 2018;

2. reviewed the internal audit department’s report regarding
the reviewing and procedures of the internal control and risk
management of the Company; and

3. provided opinions to the Board in respect of the terms of
appointment of external auditors.
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The Group’s result for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been
reviewed and commented by the audit committee members, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and requirements as well as the
GEM Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through mails whose contact details are as
follows:

Room 19, 13/F, Tower A
New Mandarin Plaza

14 Science Museum Road
Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon
Hong Kong

Tel No.: 2366 1613

Fax No.: 2366 1665

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, The Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one
or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director
at any general meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote
at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office or at the registration office provided
that the minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s)
are given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that the period for
lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date
of such general meeting.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
annual accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group’s state
of affairs of the results and cash flow for the year. In preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018, the Directors have:

e adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; and

e made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and ensured the accounts are prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Company recognises that high quality corporate reporting is
important in reinforcing the trust relationship between the Company
and the its stakeholders and aims at presenting a balanced, clear
and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in all corporate communications.
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Internal Control and risk management

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control and risk
management over financial, operational and compliance issues for
the year 2018. The Audit Committee concluded that, in general,
the Group has set up a sound control environment and installed
necessary control mechanisms to monitor and correct non-
compliance. The Board, through the review of the Audit Committee,
is satisfied that the Group in 2018, fully complied with the code
provisions on internal controls and risk management as set forth in
the Code. The Audit Committee also concluded that the Group has
employed sufficient staff for the propose of accounting, financial and
internal control. The Group has internal audit department.

External Auditors

The Group’s external auditors are KTC Partners CPA Limited.
The Audit Committee is mandated to ensure continuing auditors’
objectivity and safeguard independence of the auditors, and it has:

e determined the framework for the type and authorisation of
non-audit services for which the external auditors may provide.
In general, the engagement of the external auditors to perform
non-audit services is prohibited except for tax related services;
and

e agreed with the Board on the policy relating to the hiring of
employees or former employees of the external auditors and
monitored the applications of such policy.

During 2018, the remuneration payable to the Company’s external
auditors for audit and non-audit services were approximately
RMB1,500,000 and RMB Nil respectively.
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The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018 were audited
by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The Audit
Committee has recommended to the Board that KTC Partners CPA
Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Group has not employed any staff who was formerly involved in
the Group’s statutory audit.

Corporate Communication

The Group recognises the importance of shareholder feedback and
the need for ongoing communication with its stakeholders, including
the general public, investors, and the institutional and individual
shareholders. The Company published annual, interim and quarterly
reports which contained detailed information about the Group.
Inquiries by shareholders are directed and dealt with by senior
management of the Group.

Company secretary

Mr. Lui Chi Keung has been appointed as the company secretary
since September 2007. For the details, please refer to page 37 to
this report.

The company secretary has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements.

INVESTORS RELATIONSHIP

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its Shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders. These include the annual general
meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company’s website at
http://www.capitalfp.com.hk/eng/index.jsp?co=8270.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there had been no
significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng, aged 55, has been appointed as chairman
of the Board, an executive Director and the compliance officer of the
Company since May 2006. From 9 January 2004 to 26 May 20086,
Mr. Wang was an executive director of Tianjin Jinran Public Utilities
Company Limited (“Tianjin Jinran”) (formerly known as Tianjin Tianlian
Public Utilities Company Limited), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 01265, former stock
code: 08290), and was responsible for its business strategies. He
graduated from the University of Tianjin with a bachelor degree in
engineering in 1984. Mr. Wang is also a director of Tianjin Leason
Investment Group Company Limited (K ETHEREEE A
FR A ®]). Mr. Wang is a substantial shareholder of the company
which holds 394,239,983 Shares in person or through controlled
corporation, representing approximately 29.88% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this report. In addition,
as at the date of this report, Mr. Wang is interested as a grantee
of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the share option
scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011 and as a holder
of convertible bonds convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

Mr. Fu Shou Gang, aged 52, has years of experiences in the natural
gas sector. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in Tianjin Jinran,
where was pointed as an executive Director. Mr. Fu is interested as a
grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the share
options scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong, aged 45, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 13 November 2017. Mr. Lau graduated
from the University of California, Los Angeles with a Bachelor
of Arts degree in Business Economics in 1997. Mr. Lau is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has over 15 years’ working experience
in the accounting and auditing field. Mr. Lau was a qualified
accountant and company secretary of Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan
High Technology Corporation Limited (&Il BAZE BZERI B B D B
R 2 &]), a company listed on the Growth Enterprises Market of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8301), since April 2005 till May 2006.
Mr. Lau was the financial controller and company secretary of O
Luxe Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 860), since June 2008 and resigned on
13 November 2017. He has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of China Longevity Group Limited (stock code:
1863) since June 2016, the company secretary of Superb Summit
International Group Limited (stock code: 1228) since May 2018, the
company secretary of AV Promotions Holdings Limited (stock code:
8419) since June 2018, and the company secretary of Grand T G
Gold Holdings Limited (stock code: 8299) since January 2019. The
shares of those companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Luo Wei Kun, aged 80, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. He graduated from the
Tsinghua University with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering in
1964 and started postgraduate studies in the same year. He was
awarded a postgraduate diploma in civil engineering in 1967. He
acted as a technician in Wuhan Branch of the Chinese Medicine
Industrial Limited during 1968 to 1969 and as a technician, deputy
section chief, section chief, engineer and vice chief engineer in the
State Ministry of Medicine — Hubei Medical Manufactory Branch
during 1969 to 1985. He then worked as a senior engineer, section
chief and assistant factory manager in Tianjin Second Coal Gas
Factory during 1986 to 1992. From 1992 to 2000, he acted as a
vice chief engineer in Tianjin Utility Department and at the same time,
worked as a chief engineer in Tianjin City Gas Administrative Office.
After his retirement in March 2000, Mr. Luo acted as a consultant of
Tianjin City Gas Administrative Office and Tianjin City Gas Planning
Office.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Zhi He, aged 71, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since August 2006. Mr. Wang is a senior
accountant. Mr. Wang graduated from Anhui University of Finance
and Economics in February 1972, and was assigned to finance
department of Anhui Huaibei Mining Bureau and worked as a
commissioner, deputy section chief, section chief, deputy director
and director. Mr. Wang was transferred to the Ministry of Coal
Industry in May 1995, and worked as a director of Asset Capital
Management Division and State-owned Assets Management
department. In October 1997, Mr. Wang was re-designated as a
chief accountant of China Coal Construction Group Corporation, and
worked as a deputy general manager and chief accountant in May
1999. Mr. Wang was transferred to Zhonglian Gas Company Limited
and worked as a chief accountant in March 2004. Mr. Wang has
years of relevant experience.

Senior Management

Mr. Lui Chi Keung, aged 61, has been appointed as the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company since
September 2007. Mr. Lui is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and is also a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lui has
over 30 years of experience in auditing, accounting, financial and
business management.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 58 to 59.

The state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at
31 December 2018 are set out in the consolidated and company
statements of financial position on pages 60 to 61 and note
38 respectively. The cash flows of the Group are set out in the
consolidated statement of cash flows on pages 63 to 64.

The Directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 28(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year is set out in
page 62 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and
the Company’s articles of association, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to its shareholders comprise share premium,
contributed surplus and accumulated losses which in aggregate
amounted to approximately RMB134,807,000 as at 31 December
2018 (2017: RMB336,144,000). The distributable reserves are
available for distribution provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed, the Company will be able to pay
off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2018 were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (Chairman)
Mr. Fu Shou Gang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Pong
Mr. Luo Wei Kun
Mr. Wang Zhi He

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Luo Wei Kun and Mr. Wang Zhi He retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The term of office for each of independent non-executive Directors is
the period up to his retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions
of the articles of association of the Company.
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Biographical information of the Directors is set out on page 35 to
page 37 of this report.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers the independent non-executive Directors have remained
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND KEY MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

Details of Directors’ and key management’s remuneration for the
year are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No other contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
subsisted at the year-end or any time during the year to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or
may cause any significant competition with the business of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on Information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of listed
issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:
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Long positions in shares, underlying shares and

REARQXFRS - HERORES2

debentures of the Company W
Number
of shares/ Approximate
Nature of underlying % of
Name Capacity interest shares shareholdings
:37:
" 513 EsE HEARAE A BREBNESE
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng  Interest of controlled Corporate 18,118,500 1.38%
FRBEE corporation interest (Note 1)
RyEEEER NEER (M5 1)
Beneficial owner Personal 470,588,254 35.66%
ER#BA &A (Note 2)
(Mt7E 2)
Mr. Fu Shou Gang Beneficial owner Personal 324,750 0.02%
RS E 4 EREA A EA (Note 3)
(M$5E 3)
Notes: MIaE -
1. Such shares are owned by Jumbo Lane Investments Limited. 1. ZERMBEBEREBRDRES

Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng owns 100% interest in the issued share capital of Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited and he is taken to be interested in the shares owned by Jumbo
Lane Investments Limited pursuant to Part XV of the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of

Hong Kong).

2. Out of the 470,588,254 long positions, Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng is interested as (i) 2.
a grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750 shares under the new share option
scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May 2011; (ii) a beneficial owner of
376,121,483 issued shares of the Company; and (i) a holder of convertible bonds
convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

3. Mr. Fu Shou Gang is interested as a grantee of options to subscribe for 324,750 3.
shares under the new share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 May

2011.

TABEEREEEREERARDHTRAZ
100% # & - RIBBEBEPIE671 EEH R E K
PIEXVER B RRBEREERARERZ
B AR

MR 470,588,254 Ik 2 iF B AR - £ BB L A&
UTAFE EEED  VEREZAEA TR
BARRIR T ——FHA+/\BERBOFER
G EIRES24, 750 Rk N E=HEBEA HE
376,121,483 Jx A2 B B B 7T A% 17 + I (iil) FT R AR (B
F2ZEB A AR A4,142,021 BRIARAZ S ©

ERILEERERE AEABES R  TJIRIE
RARPRZE——&FFH A+ N\ BERMMNFTERE
208 324,750 AL 1 ©



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were otherwise required, pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by directors of listed issuers as referred to in
Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Group had not issued any debentures
during the Year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND PERSONS
WITH DISCLOSEABLE INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITION IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares of the Company
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Percentage of

Name Number of shares Nature of Interest shareholding
A vy 4= ESME KRASL
Ms. Zhao Xin (Note) 488,706,754 Interest of spouse 37.04%
e (M) B ER

Note:

Ms. Zhao Xin (the spouse of Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng) is deemed to be interested in her
spouse’s interest in the Company pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, no other person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
an interest or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under to section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS
TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures” above and in the section “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children
or chief executive or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 18 May 2011, the
Company'’s share option scheme adopted on 28 July 2003 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted which
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the
New Share Option Scheme and will expire on 17 May 2021. On
30 May 2011, the Board approved to grant options in respect of
258,300,000 ordinary shares to the Company’s Directors, employees
and consultants under the New Share Option Scheme.

There were no share options that had been granted remained
outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme prior to its
termination.

For details of the New Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 20 April 2011.
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Information in relation to share options disclosed in accordance with
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the GEM Listing Rules was as follows: (SR NN
Exercise
price of
Cancelled/ per share Adjusted
Name and Asat Granted Exercised lapsed Asat Date of Exercise asatthedate  exercise price
category of 1 January during the during the duringthe 31 December grant of period of of grant of per share
participants 2018 year year year 2018  share options  share options  share options option
i £ it RiEkRE SikE
“5-0\F Bitl/ Z®¥-N\E Bl BRE  EHA82 ki
SRERARER -A-R  EmERY  ERERE %% +=A=+-B RLAE T8  BROEE kR
Executive Directors
HiTEF
Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng 324,750 - - - 324,750 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
IRBEE 29/5/2021
Mr. Fu Shou Gang 324,750 - - - 324,750 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
e bt 29/5/2021
649,500 - - - 649,500
Employess 5,486,976 - - - 5,486,976 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
3= 29/5/2021
Consutants 25,982,598 - - - 25,982,598 30/5/2011 30/5/2011- 049 381
EfR 29/5/2021
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
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Notes:

(i) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the year are as follows:

GEE

) REAFEFEIEBERRGEHNT

Number of Contractual
options Vesting conditions life of options
BiREXRE BB RS BRESHSTH
Options granted:
ERHERE
30 May 2011 215,220,000 Vest immediately 10 years
—E——FHA=+H =] 104
30 May 2011 43,080,000 Half on each of the first and second anniversaries 10 years
of grant date
—T——FHA=+H REBHzEEARE_EBFEER—F 104F

(ii) The number and weighted average exercise prices of options are as follows:

() R EE RNETEITEERNT

Weighted average Number of
exercise price options
INiEEITIEE BREHE

HK$

BT
Outstanding as at 1 January 2018 RZZE—-NF—RB—ARITE 3.81 32,119,074
Granted during the year FEREED - _
Outstanding as at 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+ZA=+—BRITE 3.81 32,119,074
Exercisable as at 31 December 2018 RZZE-NF+ZA=+—HATE 3.81 32,119,074

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2018 had an exercise price of HK$3.81
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.4 years.

The subscription price per share under the New Share Option
Scheme is solely determined by the Board, and shall be at least the
higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer to grant option,
which must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date of
offer to grant option; and (i) the nominal value of a share on the date
of offer to grant option, provided that in the event of fractional prices,
the subscription price per share shall be rounded upwards to the
nearest whole cent.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year under review, the top five customers of the Group
together accounted for approximately 52.56% of the Group’s total
sales for the year while the single largest customers accounted for
approximately 24.90% of the Group’s total sales during the year.

The top five suppliers of the Group for the year under review
together accounted for approximately 85.53% of the Group’s total
purchases for the year and the single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 35.70% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or any
shareholders of the Company who owns more than 5% of the issued
share capital of the Company has any interests in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers above mentioned.

AMOUNT OF CAPITALISED INTEREST

Save as disclosed in this report, no interest has been capitalised by
the Group during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particular of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

As at the date of this report, the Company had outstanding options
to subscribe for 32,119,074 shares under the share option scheme
adopted on 18 May 2011 and outstanding convertible bonds
convertible to 94,142,021 conversion shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE ORREDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company nor any of its subsidiaries.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Company are set out
in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Shanxi Qinshui
Prefecture Chengrong Investment Limited (“Chengrong Investment”)
has provided financing to the Group in the sum of RMB24,200,000.
As Chengrong Investment owns 17% equity interest in Shanxi
Wanzhi Logistics Limited (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company), Chengrong Investment is a connected person of the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules. As the financing is financial
assistance provided by a connected person for the benefit of the
Group on normal commercial terms (or better to the Company)
where no security over the assets of the Group is granted in respect
of the financial assistance, the transaction are exempt from the
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
under Rule 20.65 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Save
as disclosed above, The Directors consider that those material
related party transactions disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements did not fall under the definition of “connected
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes or
may cause any significant competition with the business as of the
Group.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to
allow shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst retaining adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s
future growth. The declaration, form, frequency and amount of
dividend paid by the Company must be in accordance with relevant
laws and regulations and subject to the Articles. In deciding whether
to declare any dividend, the Board will take into account a number
of factors, including the financial results, the distributable reserves,
the operations and liquidity requirements, and the current and future
development plans of the Company. The Board will review the
dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to time.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018 were audited
by KTC Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the annual general meeting. A resolution for the reappointment
of KTC Partners CPA Limited as the auditors of the Company for
the subsequent year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

By order of the Board

Wang Zhong Sheng
Chairman

27 March 2019
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KTC Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

MESHMEHZMAER LS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY
LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 58 to 190,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effect on the corresponding
figures of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section of our report, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION
Corresponding figures

As detailed in our auditor’s report dated 27 March 2018 on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2017, the predecessor auditors who were engaged
to perform the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 had expressed a
disclaimer of opinion as a result of the significance of possible effect
of the limitation on the scope of their audit concerning impairment of
property, pant and equipment and prepaid land lease payments and
fundamental uncertainty relating to the going concern bases. Since
opening balances in consolidated statement of financial position
affect the determination of the results of operations and hence cash
flows, we were unable to determine whether adjustments to the
results of operations and cash flows might be necessary for the year
ended 31 December 2017. Hence our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017 was qualified because of the possible effects of these matters.

Our opinion on the current year’s consolidated financial statements
is also qualified because of these possible effects of the matters on
the comparability of the current year’s figures and the corresponding
figures of the Group’s financial performance, cash flows and relevant
notes.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
approximately RMB121,933,000 for the year ended 31 December
2018, and as of 31 December 2018, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately RMB337,433,000.
As stated in Note 3(b), these events or conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in Note 3(b), indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
and Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern sections, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

RiFECENENERTREN

B EERGE T BRERME3D0) - &
FiEY BEEEHZE-_Z—/\F+_-A
T+ HLEFEEELEFEBEBROARE
121,933,000 BHE=ZZT—N\F+=
A=+—RH EfBzR®BEBEDBLHHE
B & E # A R ¥ 337,433,000 7T © 3 40
Bt 5E 3(0) it - 3% % FIE SR R E R B 5
SO FTEEMETRA - ATEF BB

EEBFELERENEAEARENE
ATEEN - KM BERL B ZEIEE
sk -

BREXEER

FAREZFASRERMNEXAE - R
RYEAHMENEEVBREREZBERAE
EMERR - ZFFHINAMEZEER
BMBHARL U ERE RRETERE -
mERMIERLEFEREREFER

T REER ZEMMERELEER@M
BEATHEMER e FHI - RAE
HEE MRFHERMRET BEEZNMGR
BT EIE -



T \EER HEREREBEERAF]

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 106 to 108.

Key Audit Matter
HRELEIR

B ZBENRE

NI EZ PR RORRER AR AN T -
I3k - BBRRERE

2 G AV ERERMMFE14UAREI06ESE
108 B 2 &&THUR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFINFZMARRZARFZLER

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment was approximately RMB551,948,000.
RZZT—N\F+ZA=+—H 9% KEELZEOE
HE{E# AR 551,948,000 7T °

We have identified the impairment of property, plant
and equipment as a key audit matter because of their
significance to the consolidated financial statements and
the involvement of a significant degree of judgements and
estimates made by the management for the profit forecasts
and cash flows projections for the value-in-use calculations
made by the independent valuer.

B mE HERREREZRNBBEREZEE R
HEeHHGaMBEHRENEZW WP REBENLE
B R A TR R A EEAENR S RETRRE
B8 R T Re (il 5t e

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment on the recoverability of
these assets and the reasonableness of the judgements
and estimates used by the management in the value-in-
use calculations made by the independent valuer.
BPMNEF EEEEEREYUARLRBETR
NERRANB T EMEREREBENFEMMEE
B A MR RTLS

We have discussed the indication of possible

impairment with the management and, where such

indication were identified by the management, assessed

the impairment testing performed by the management.

BMELEEBEENmA LD RAORETR @ &

E%E%&EWEZ%W% CRFT B IR TR
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We have tested the profit forecasts and cash flows
projections on whether they were agreed to the
budgets approved by the directors of the Company and
compare with actual results available up to the report
date.

HFVAEEN AN RSRERAESEE SQAE
EHENTAE B THBEEREANERERE
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We have challenged the appropriateness of the
management judgements and estimates used in the
profit forecasts and cash flows projections, including
the sales growth rates and gross profit margins, against
latest market expectations.
BPESREFMSRAL AN EANE S RER
BIFT R BB IR B H i A FH (B REERRE NER
)R ERAMREER -

We have also challenged the discount rates adopted
in the value-in-use calculations by reviewing its basis
of calculations and comparing the input data to market
sources.

BFIRBEBES Hat 5 B0 M8 5 A SR B 5 K
RETHE  BREABEAETFHRANEERE -

We have assessed the valuation methodology used
and the appropriateness of the key assumptions
and checked on sample basis, the accuracy and the
relevance of the input data adopted in management’s
value-in-use calculations.
BHEEEREERATEFENEREFRETHE
EREETENERBRERES - WP IF AT
BT R AR S 2R R AEA -
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Provision for expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade

receivables

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on pages 89 to 91.

Key Audit Matter
AREZEE

Wiz ABEERER (FHAHE
EEER] BE

ELMG A BB REN 20 R H 89 of
B2 BB -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMBNFLNABRRZBAREZEE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had gross trade
receivables of approximately RMB7,414,000 (2017:
RMB18,807,000) and provision for impairment of
approximately RMB3,848,000 (2017: RMB13,609,000).

RZE-N\F+ZA=+—0 SENAEWKERROA
R ¥7,414,0007T (2017 - A K% 18,807,0007T) & F &
BB AR ¥ 3,848,000 7 (2017 + AR#E13,609,0007T) °

ECL for trade receivables are based on management’s
estimate of the lifetime ECL to be incurred, which is
estimated by taking into account the credit loss experience,
ageing of overdue trade receivables, customers’
repayment history and customers’ financial position and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions, all of which involve a significant
degree of management judgment.

JEWER EREEBRAEEEHAKES 2 BHE
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We have identified ECL assessment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter because assessing ECL of
trade receivables is a subjective area as it requires the
management’s judgment and uses of estimates.

B EYERR B EERETEEF RERERE
B RASFHEKER EHEEEEE X 886K
HFEREREELHE ERMLET -

Our procedures in relation to management’s ECL
assessment on trade receivables included:

B REEETGRKEFRBREEBEZER
B

we have reviewed and assessed the application of
the Group’s policy for calculating the ECL;
BMHEEBE LG EXERRGEEREE
BB BUE

we have evaluated techniques and methodology
adopted by the management in the ECL model
against the requirements of HKFRS 9;
BAEFAEREEERER AR LA E
REARAEBYBRELENBE IR EL

we have assessed the reasonableness of
management’s loss allowance estimates by
examining the information used by management
to form such judgements, including testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions
and forward-looking information and examining
the actual losses recorded during the current
financial year and assessing whether there was an
indication of management bias when recognising
loss allowances;
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
FAREZEE BROEZMAFRZARERSE

e we have inquired management for the status of
each of the material trade receivables past due as
at year end and corroborating explanations from
management with supporting evidence, such as
understanding on-going business relationship with
the customers based on trade records, checking
historical and subsequent settlement records of
and other correspondence with the customers;
BMETEEREAES  EHEKRAERE
EFEBEHENBRABZERORT B lE
ERBME  AEmMBERERN - /\F+_H
St BERUMBLEEANE S EWFIEN R
BN MRITWIR M FRREF BN

e we have evaluated the design, implementation
and operating effectiveness of key internal controls
which govern credit control, debt collection and
estimation of ECL; and
BT EREEERS EHERARFERE
EEBMAZEIEANMPEE 2R B &
TERRR K&

e we have checked, on a sample basis, the ageing
profile of the trade receivables as at 31 December
2018 to the underlying financial records and post
year-end settlement to bank receipts.
BHMEAMEFAREHE_Z—\F+A
=T —BZEWERRARE B AR B IS A 8k R
RmABBERITEKIEZER -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. The other information is expected
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
and our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA'’s
website at: http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/
standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number: PO4686

Hong Kong
27 March 2019
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 2 —Z— \F+-A=+—HILLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
s AR®TR ARETTT
Revenue I 25 5 168,097 178,562
Cost of sales 55 R AR 132,190 (145,786)
Gross profit EF 35,907 32,776
Other income and gains or losses H A Rz sk B8 6 (13,096) 1,591
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SR AR (7,106) (9,239)
Administrative and other expenses ITHREEMRES (57,557) (67,899
Impairment loss on property, plant and ~ #73 - #23 & iR &
equipment MEEE (39,090) (8,329)
Impairment loss on trade and other P LT R 0 R L b R U R IR
receivables 2 REEE (31,617) (6,080)
Finance costs MEER 7(0) (9,296) 9,171)
Loss before taxation PR¥ATRES 18 7 (121,855) (66,351)
Income tax expense Frigfimsz 8(a) (78) (620)
Loss for the year AEFEEEE (121,933) (66,971)
Attributable to: THIRELS :
Equity shareholders of the Company KRARERKRE (105,686) (70,219
Non-controlling interests FE 470 A% 7 (16,247) 3,248
(121,933) (66,971)
RMB RMB
AR AR
Loss per share BFREE 12
— Basic and diluted - BEARREE 8.01 cents % 5.32 cents 7

The notes on pages 58 to 190 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

F58HE190H 2 M sT4EAK Ik Z 45 4 B 7%
MR EAP I o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REREREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =%

—N\FE+ZA=t+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT
Loss for the year REEBHE (121,933) (66,971)
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEEITA (BAX)
(expense) for the year
ltem that may be reclassified HEgagEFsEE
subsequently to profit or loss: B=mIER -
Exchange differences on translation REBINEE I R
of financial statements of foreign ZIERER
operations 11,533 (17,540
Total comprehensive loss AEETHEHMZETE
for the year (110,400) (84,511)
Total comprehensive loss THEEZEMAREE :
attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company KRB IE (94,153) (87,759)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR HE A (16,247) 3,248
(110,400) (84,511)
The notes on pages 58 to 190 form part of these consolidated F58HE190 B 2 M s K It F 476 B 7%
financial statements. B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE BRI R

At 31 December 2018 R=ZE—N\FE+=-A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
gz AR®Tx AREFT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - MBS A 14 551,948 664,994
Prepaid land lease payments =X b iz heia 15 33,323 34,249
Deposits and prepayments e MIERFIE 17 821 26,347
586,092 725,590
Current assets RBEE
Prepaid land lease payments SEX b iz heia 15 871 871
Inventories rE 19 7,361 1,492
Trade and other receivables JFE U5 B R K2 L A E s SR IE 20 54,640 81,378
Tax recoverable Al e A IE 2,000 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeEMIREEED 21 17,256 8,572
82,128 94,313
Current liabilities mEBaE
Trade and other payables JE 1< BR 3R K2 B A FE < R IE 22 345,302 374,624
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EME K 23 54,200 47,280
Obligations under finance leases BB EAE 24 - 21,912
Provision B 26 16,646 14,490
Tax payable FERTBITR 3,413 4,924
419,561 463,230
Net current liabilities mEBaERE (337,433) (368,917)
Total assets less current liabilites #EEFRIHEE 248,659 356,673




T \EER HEREREBEERAF]

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE MBI R

At 31 December 2018 R=Z—NF+=A=+—8H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®Tx AREFT

Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Bank and other borrowings RITREMERK 23 5,000 -
Obligations under finance leases BLE M EAE 24 - 3,849
Convertible bonds AR ES 25 12,416 9,543
Deferred tax liabilities REFIARE 27 8,018 9,656

25,434 23,048

Net assets BERE 223,225 333,625
Capital and reserves BERRGFEE

Share capital & A 28(a) 10,910 10,910
Reserves {1 239,425 333,578
Equity attributable to equity RAr =R R EEER

shareholders of the Company 250,335 344,488

Non-controlling interests FETERR A A (27,110) (10,863)
Total equity WRERS 223,225 333,625

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27
March 2019.

Wang Zhong Sheng
E:5Y
Director

EF

The notes on pages 58 to 190 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

BEFEER - NF=A-t+tBEHERK

AT -

Fu Shou Gang
e
Director

EF

F58HE190H 2 M s Ak b Z 45 4 B 7%

WERERELD
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mERBETR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 2 —Z— \F+-A=+—HILLFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FOAARRRREL
Convertible Non-
Share Share General Translation Contributed Share option honds Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
ThRES

Rkx  ROEE -REGE BERRE EUER BREGE iE  BHER it FikER HEs

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

AEBTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARETn ARMTR ARETn ARETR ARETZ ARETR AR¥TR

Balanceat 1 January 2017 RZF—tEF-A-HiH 10910 131,082 8,273 (b412) 584838 30849 8652 (336,945 430247 (14111) 418136

Loss for the year TEERR - - - - - - - (0219 (70219 3248 (66971)
Other comprehensive TEEEBRARY

expense for the year - - - (17,540) - - - - (17,540) - (17,540)
Total comprehensive TEERARYER

loss for the year - - - (751) - - - (0219 T759 3248 (B451)
Balance at H=B-tF+2R

31 December 2017 =+-RER 10,910 131,082 8,273 (22952 584,838 30,849 8662 (407164) 344,488 (10863 333625

Bdanceat 1 January 2018 R=F-/\F—-A-HiH 10910 131,082 8,273 (22,952) 584,838 30,849 8,052  (407,164) 344,488 (10,863) 333,625

Loss for the year TEEER = - - - - - - (105686)  (105686)  (16,247)  (121,933)
Other comprehensive TEEEMZENA

income for the year - - - 11,533 - - - - 11,533 - 11,533
Total comprehensive AEERERREE

loss for the year - - - 11,533 - - - (105686) (94,153  (16,247)  (110,400)
Balance at R=8-N£+ZR

31 December 2018 =+-R&H 10910 131,082 8,213 (11419) 584,838 30,849 8652  (512,850) 250,335 27,1100 223225
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HRERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT
Operating activities BEER
Loss before taxation bR AT E 1B (121,855) (66,351)
Adjustments for: BT EIERAE
Depreciation of property, plant and M - S REREITE
equipment 70,844 77,805
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEfT L FH & # iR
payments 926 817
Impairment loss on property, Y - MBS MR ERE
plant and equipment &5 18 39,090 8,329
Written off of property, plant and M - e MR E
equipment € 23,817 -
Interest income FEWA (29) (32)
Net gain on disposal of property, HEME - WS MERE
plant and equipment 2 F (477) (406)
Impairment loss on inventories FERERBRE - 4,397
Impairment loss on trade receivables & U B 7 & b JiE Uk =X
and other receivables HZ REEBE 31,617 6,080
Written off of other receivables 0 855 EL 4t 8 Lk SR I8 8,000 1,561
Finance costs Mi5E R 9,296 9,171
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary ~ #$5 &2 — KB A 7
B B 18 - 2,195
Provision for production safely FELZTRE 2,510 3,804
63,739 47,370
Changes in working capital EEESEH
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEOGmMm R (5,869) 2,226
(Increase)/decrease in trade and JRE U5 B 3R e L At B Lk
other receivables FIB (M) R (2,391) 9,037
Decrease in trade and other payables & < BR 3k 5 £ 4t JiE 1~
RIE R D (30,138) (3,748)
Decrease in provision for production EEZERERD
safety (354) (1,499)
Cash generated from operations REXREEZHE 24,987 53,386
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid B R ERER (3,284) (4,387)
Net cash generated from operating EEXBEELEZRLFHE
activities 21,703 48,999
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HIZ =%

—NF+ZA=t—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E ARB TR AR®ETT
Cash flows from investing activities REFHELZREFEE
Payment for purchase of property, HEWME BEERBZHEZ
plant and equipment 3k (20,788) (23,090)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  HEBEREZ
plant and equipment FriS5K38 560 1,078
Decrease in deposits and prepayments ] & &E‘EH K IE R 364 -
Interest received SRS 29 32
Sale proceed of financial assets BATEFEZEREE
at fair value SHE TS 3RI8 - 200
Net cash used in investing activities REEZEFIA 2R LR (19,835) (21,780)
Cash flows from financing activities BIZEFHELZREFKE
Proceeds from new bank and other FTILIRTT & HMERZ
borrowings Fr18 7 35,000 9,900
Repayment of bank and other EBRT &,H\ fth & 3K
borrowings (23,080) (2,700)
Interest paid on bank and other RITREMBRZ BN
borrowings 8 (5,558) (4,043)
Capital element of finance leases BE ML 2 &R I D (11,061) (19,798
Interest element of finance leases BE ML 2 FI B E D (1,479) (3,241)
Net cash used in financing activities BEZHFFA 2R EEE (6,178) (19,882)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and iﬁﬁ&fﬁ.ﬁgiﬁ'm
cash equivalents W) YR (4,310) 7,337
Cash and cash equivalents at R—B—HBZzHRERHAS
1 January ZEY 8,572 20,534
Effect of foreign exchange rate B o wE
changes 12,994 (19,299)
Cash and cash equivalents at BW+=-—HA=+—HBzH%
31 December REE£EEY 21 17,256 8,572
The notes on pages 58 to 190 form part of these consolidated 58 B & 190 B » M it B L F 45 A B 75
financial statements. R B AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China CBM Group Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands on 15 July 2002 under the Companies
Laws of the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda. The
change of domicile of the Company from Cayman Islands to
Bermuda was effective on 23 April 2014.

The shares of the Company are listed on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section in the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the business of exploitation,
liquefaction production and sale of natural gas in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) has applied the
following HKFRSs and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

HK(FRIC)-Int 22

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

—REH

FREEEREBEBERAR (ARAF])
RZZFZE_F+LA+HBRERSE
SRaEERERS MK AER
BERDRTHRERETE - AQA
ERESHEEMEERER - —I
FHAZ+=HE® -

RRARZBIINEBEBAERZMER
AR ([BE32 P ]) GEM E7 » AR E]F
3% 5 B Ko = B2 SR AL 2 H k- 19
BRERFRIAFER] —E -

ARARMEBEDTIBRREER - K
REAINHEMBAR (I AEE]) X
EREPEARLME (THE])RAR
ERARFR RICEEMHEER -

RANFTR] RASEFT B R E
iﬁ]tjn';ﬁﬁu (TERMBHREE
Bl

REFERFERNEEITER
IR EER

ARARREMBAR ([AER]DER
AEEERERTIBEESQ
S ((HFEETMAE]) B 2B EY
B E RN ZERT

BEMBREENFEOR  HEIA
ey EeEdl EPaNER
F15%% AN

B (ARMBRERE
ZEg)-REE2R

HER 5 RBENK
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F2REIR NRHNDE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 2 —Z— \F+-A=+—HILLFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period, except
for the amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment features with
negative compensation which have been adopted at the same
time as HKFRS 9.

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including the
amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment features
with negative compensation

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39, Financial instruments: recognition
and measurement. It sets out the requirements for recognising
and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and some
contracts to buy or sell non-financial items.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items that
existed at 1 January 2018 in accordance with the transition
requirements. The Group has recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the opening equity at 1
January 2018. Therefore, comparative information continues to
be reported under HKAS 39.

There is no impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on accumulated
losses at 1 January 2018.

2. RAFET REBITERYH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including the
amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment features
with negative compensation (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition approach are set
out below:

a.

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
HKFRS 9 categorises financial assets into three principal
classification categories: measured at amortised cost,
at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) and at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”).
These supersede HKAS 39’s categories of held-to-
maturity investments, loans and receivables, available-
forsale financial assets and financial assets measured at
FVPL. The classification of financial assets under HKFRS
9 is based on the business model under which the
financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow
characteristics. Under HKFRS 9, derivatives embedded in
contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of
the standard are not separated from the host. Instead, the
hybrid instrument as a whole is assessed for classification.

The Group’s trade and other receivables and bank
balances and cash are reclassified from loans and
receivables to financial assets carried at amortised cost
under HKFRS 9.

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities
remain the same.

The measurement basis and carrying amounts for all
financial assets and liabilities at 1 January 2018 have not
been impacted by the initial application of HKFRS 9.

The Group did not designate or de-designate any financial
asset or financial liability at FVPL at 1 January 2018.

\)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 2 —Z— \F+-A=+—HILLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including the
amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment features
with negative compensation (Continued)

b. Impairment of financial assets
HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39
with the “expected credit loss” (“ECL”) model. The ECL
model requires an ongoing measurement of credit risk
associated with a financial asset and therefore recognises
ECLs earlier than under the “incurred loss” accounting
model in HKAS 39.

The Group applies the new ECL model to financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including trade and other
receivables and bank balances and cash).

The Group determines that there was not any material
impact in the ECLs of the Group due to the change in
accounting policy.

c. Transition
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption
of HKFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively, except as
described below:

e |nformation relating to comparative periods has not
been restated. Differences in the carrying amounts of
financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS
9 are recognised in accumulated losses and reserves
as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the information
presented for 2017 continues to be reported under
HKAS 39 and thus may not be comparable with the
current period.

e The assessments have been made on the basis of
the facts and circumstances that existed at 1 January
2018 (the date of initial application of HKFRS 9 by the
Group) for the determination of the business model
within which a financial asset is held.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments, including the
amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment features
with negative compensation (Continued)

c. Transition (Continued)

e |f, at the date of initial application, the assessment of
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition would have involved undue
cost or effort, a lifetime ECL has been recognised for
that financial instrument.

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue and some costs from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18, Revenue, which
covered revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering of
services, and HKAS 11, Construction contracts, which specified
the accounting for construction contracts.

The Group has elected to use the cumulative effect transition
method. The cumulative effect of initial application, if any, is
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity
at 1 January 2018. Therefore, comparative information has
not been restated and continues to be reported under HKASs
18. As allowed by HKFRS 15, the Group has applied the new
requirements only to contracts that were not completed before
1 January 2018.

There is no impact of transition to HKFRS 15 on accumulated
losses at 1 January 2018.
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e SRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 2 —Z— \F+-A=+—HILLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continueq)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes on
previous accounting policies are set out below:

a.

Timing of revenue recognition

Previously, revenue arising from construction contracts and
provision of services was recognised over time, whereas
revenue from sale of goods was generally recognised at a
point in time when the risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods had passed to the customers.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised good or service
in the contract. This may be at a single point in time or over
time. HKFRS 15 identifies the following three situations in
which control of the promised good or service is regarded
as being transferred over time:

e When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

e When the entity’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example work in progress) that the
customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced;

e When the entity’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the entity and
the entity has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not fall
into any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS 15 the
entity recognises revenue for the sale of that good or
service at a single point in time, being when control has
passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of ownership is only
one of the indicators that is considered in determining
when the transfer of control occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—Z— \F+-A=+—HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

a.

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant
impact on when the Group recognises revenue from sale
of goods and this change in accounting policy had no
material impact on opening balances as at 1 January 2018.

Significant financing component

HKFRS 15 requires an entity to adjust the transaction price
for the time value of money when a contract contains a
significant financing component, regardless of whether
the payments from customers are received significantly in
advance of revenue recognition or significantly deferred.

Previously, the Group only applied such a policy when
payments were significantly deferred, which was not
common in the Group’s arrangements with its customers.
The Group did not apply such a policy when payments
were received in advance.

It is not common for the Group to receive payments
significantly in advance of revenue recognition in the
Group’s arrangements with its customers.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant
impact on when the Group recognises financing
component from sale of goods and this change in
accounting policy had no material impact on opening
balance as at 1 January 2018.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 2 —Z— \F+-A=+—HILLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

c. Presentation of contract assets and liabilities
Under HKFRS 15, a contract liability, rather than a payable,
is recognised when a customer pays consideration, or is
contractually required to pay consideration and the amount
is already due, before the Group recognises the related
revenue. At 1 January 2018, the Group’s deposits received
from customers are reclassified to contact liabilities under

HKFRS 15.

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are yet effective:

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK (IFRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Leases'

Insurance Contracts?

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
settlement!

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures!

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle!

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs and
interpretations mentioned below, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the applications of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS
17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback
transactions to be determined based on the requirements of
HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the relevant asset
should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also includes
requirements relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised
for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and
leases of low value assets.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at the date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact
of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification
of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid
lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold
lands for owned use and those classified as investment
properties while other operating lease payments are presented
as operating cash flows. Under the HKFRS 16, lease payments
in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and
an interest portion which will be presented as financing and
operating cash flows.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require
a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of approximately RMB319,000
as disclosed in Note 33. A preliminary assessment indicates
that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under
HKFRS 16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases
unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the
application of HKFRS 16.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continueq)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

In addition, the application of new requirements may result
in changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above. The Group intends to elect the practical
expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and
not apply this standard to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the Group will not reassess whether
the contracts are, or contain a lease which already existed prior
to the date of initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends
to elect the modified retrospective approach for the application
of HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect
of initial application to opening accumulated losses without
restating comparative information.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“GEM Listing Rules”).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 comprise the Company and its

subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis, except those disclosed otherwise in the accounting

policies below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are discussed in note 4.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB121,933,000 during the year ended 31 December
2018 and as at 31 December 2018, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately RMB337,433,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and that the Group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

Nevertheless, the directors of the Company had adopted
the going concern basis in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group based on
the following factors:

(1) Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng (“Mr. Wang”), a substantial
shareholder, the chairman and executive director of
the Company, has confirmed to provide continuing
financial support to the Group to enable it to continue
as a going concern and to settle its liabilities as and
when they fall due in the foreseeable future;

(2) The directors of the Company will anticipate that the
Group will continue to generate positive cash flows
from its future operations;

(3) After 31 December 2018, 1 major gas supplier of the
Group with an aggregate amount of approximately
RMB68 million, which represents about 51% of the
trade payable balance as at 31 December 2018, have
agreed that the amount due by the Group would be
payable by way of monthly settlement in accordance
with the repayment schedule;
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

(4) After 31 December 2018, certain construction
suppliers of the Group with an aggregate amount of
approximately RMB56 million included in payables for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment as set
out in Note 22 under trade and other payables, have
agreed not to demand for repayment for their amount
due before 30 June 2020;

(5) After 31 December 2018, the lender of an unsecured
loan of approximately RMB24 million due to a non-
controlling shareholder of PRC subsidiary as at 31
December 2018 as set out in note 23, has agreed to
extend repayment period up to 27 August 2020;

(6) To raise funds by way of issuing additional equity or
debt securities; and

(7) To negotiate with certain bankers to obtain additional
banking facilities, if necessary.

Provided that these measures can successfully improve
the liquidity of the Group, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for the foreseeable
future. According, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®E)
(Continued)
(c) MBARIRIEERES

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the
Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position in accordance with the accounting policies in note

3 depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no

gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see note 3(f)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment

in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 3(f)), unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group

that is classified as held for sale).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®E)
(Continued)
d) BB (B=ZE—N\F—

(d) Revenue recognition (accounting policies

applied from 1 January 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction
of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

e creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (accounting policies

applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For contracts where the period
between the payment and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(i) Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and piped natural

gas

Customers obtain control of the liquefied coalbed gas
and piped natural gas when the gas is delivered to
and have been accepted by customers. Revenue is
thus recognised upon when the customers accepted
the products. There is generally only one performance
obligation. Invoices are usually payable within 30
days. In the comparative period, revenue from sales of
goods is recognised on transfer of risks and rewards
of ownership, which was taken as at the time of
delivery and the title is passed to customer.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

(ii)

Income from provision of gas supply connection
services

The Group provides gas supply connection services
to customers. Such services are recognised as
a performance obligation satisfied over time as
the Group creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these gas
supply connection services based on the stage of
completion of the contract using output method.

The Group’s gas supply connection contracts include
payment schedules which require stage payments
over the construction period once certain specified
milestones are reached. The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits from 10% to
30% of total contract sum, when the Group receives
a deposit before construction commences, this will
give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract,
until the revenue recognised on the specific contract
exceeds the amount of the deposit.

A contract asset, net of contract liability related to the
same contract, is recognised over the period in which
the construction services are performed representing
the Group’s right to consideration for the services
performed because the rights are conditioned on the
Group’s future performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Income from provision of gas supply connection
services (Continued)

Retention receivables, prior to expiration of defect
liability period, are classified as contract assets, which
is one year from the date of the practical completion
of the gas supply connection. The relevant amount
of contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables
when the defect liability period expires. The defect
liability period serves as an assurance that the
construction services performed comply with agreed-
upon specifications and such assurance cannot be
purchased separately.

Income from provision of liquefied coalbed gas
logistics services

For contracts entered into with customers on
liquefied coalbed gas logistics services, taking into
consideration of the relevant contract terms and the
legal environment, the Group concluded that the
Group does not have an enforceable right to payment
prior to completion of the logistics services. Besides,
the customers only received and consumed the
benefits upon completion of the coalbed gas logistics
services. Revenue from provision for liquefied coalbed
gas logistics services is therefore recognised at a point
in time when the provision for liquefied coalbed gas
logistics services rendered and the Group has present
right to payment and collection of the consideration is
probable.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®E)

(Continued)

(d) BEER(B=F—N\F—
A—BERNETEE) (4

(d) Revenue recognition (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)
BRNEERERE

(iv) Contract assets and liabilities

(iv)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group
completes the gas supply connection services
under such services contracts but yet certified by
customers, or (i) the customers retain retention money
to secure the due performance of the contracts. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset is
reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which
it is invoiced to the customer. If the considerations
(including advances received from customers)
exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the
output method then the Group recognises a contract
liability for the difference.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Revenue recognition (accounting policies
applied until 31 December 2017)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue
is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

U]

(ii)

(iii)

Sales of liquefied coalbed gas and piped natural
gas

Revenue from sales of liquefied coalbed gas and
piped natural gas are recognised when the gas is
delivered and title has passed. Revenue excludes
value-added and business taxes and trade discounts.

Income from provision of gas supply connection
services

Revenue from provision of gas supply connection
services is recognised when the relevant construction
work is completed and connection services are
rendered.

Income from provision of liquefied coalbed gas
logistics services

Revenue from provision of logistics services is
recognised when services are rendered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®E)

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (accounting policies  MBIA(B=T—NF—

applied from 1 January 2018)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at fair
value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are directly attributable
to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a
significant financing component is initially measured at the
transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirely when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.

(i) Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest rate method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition
is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

() Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

()

Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”): Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently measured
at fair value. Interest income calculated using the
effective interest rate method, foreign exchange gains
and losses and impairment are recognized in profit
or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains
and losses accumulated in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”"): Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value. Financial
assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal and interest
are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to
be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as described above,
debt instruments may be designated at fair value
through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so
eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—Z— \F+-A=+—HLFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®E)

(Continueq)
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ERMEE (#)
(i) RAKE

() Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair
value in other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at fair value. Dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other
equity instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby
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(ii)) Impairment loss on financial assets (iii) EFEEREEE

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables, contract
assets, financial assets measured at amortised cost
and debt investments measured at FVOCI. The ECLs
are measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12
months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over the
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The
shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the
assets’ original effective interest rate. The Group has
measured loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets using HKFRS 9 simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-months ECLs. However, when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®E)

(Continued)

(H MBEIR(B=F-NF-
A—HER E’J‘Q“HE&%) (%)

() Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

TMEE (&)
(i) £FAEEREREE (&)

Financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if
any is held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90
days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly

attributable costs incurred.

(i)  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be
designated as a financial liability at fair value through
profit or loss, except where the embedded derivative
does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is
clear that separation of the embedded derivative is
prohibited.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

()

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (Continued)

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the
following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates
or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that
would otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities
or recognising gains or losses on them on a different
basis; (i) the liabilities are part of a group of financial
liabilities which are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the
financial liability contains an embedded derivative that
would need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair
value, with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for the
gains and losses arising from the Group’s own credit
risk which are presented in other comprehensive
income with no subsequent reclassification to the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
(i)  Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
and other payables, amount due to former directors,
other borrowings and amount due to a major
shareholder, using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®E)

(Continued)

(H MBEIR(B=F-NF-
A—BERANETEXE) &)

() Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied from 1 January 2018) (Continued)

TREE (B
(i) BEBHEHLASEZTHERE

Financial liabilities (Continued)
(i)  Financial liabilities at amortised cost (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to
a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part
as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability,
the equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognised initially and measured at
their fair value on the date the financial liability or part
thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the
equity instruments are measured to reflect the fair value
of the financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability or
part thereof extinguished and the consideration paid
is recognised in profit or loss for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Financial instruments (accounting policies

applied until 31 December 2017)

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated
at fair value, which is their transaction price unless it is
determined that the fair value at initial recognition differs
from the transaction price and that fair value is evidenced
by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset
or liability or based on a valuation technique that uses only
data from observable markets. Cost includes attributable
transaction costs, except where indicated otherwise
below. These investments are subsequently accounted for
as follows, depending on their classification.

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of
each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with
any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does
not include any dividends or interest earned on these
investments as these are recognised in accordance with
the policies set out in note 3(t).

Dated debt securities that the Group have the positive
ability and intention to hold to maturity are classified as
held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity securities are
stated at amortised cost less impairment losses (see note

3(g)(ii).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Financial instruments (accounting policies

applied until 31 December 2017) (Continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of
the above categories are classified as available-for-
sale securities. At the end of each reporting period the
fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value reserve.
As an exception to this, investments in equity securities
that do not have a quoted price in an active market for an
identical instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise
be reliably measured are recognised in the statement
of financial position at cost less impairment losses (see
note 3(g)(ii)). Dividend income from equity securities and
interest income from debt securities calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss in
accordance with the policies set out in note 3(t). Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from changes in the
amortised cost of debt securities are also recognised in
profit or loss.

When the investments are derecognised or impaired
(see note 3(g)(ii)), the cumulative gain or loss recognised
in equity is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits
to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

(i) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance
for impairment of doubtful debts, except where the
receivables are interest-free loans made to related
parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied until 31 December 2017) (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of investments in debt and equity

securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-
for-sale securities are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence
of impairment includes observable data that comes to
the attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

— asignificant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below its
cost.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(g) Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied until 31 December 2017) (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of investments in debt and equity
securities and other receivables (Continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial asset and the estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset where the effect
of discounting is material. Impairment losses for
equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.

For trade and other current receivables and
other financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition of
these assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status,
and have not been individually assessed as
impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment collectively
are based on historical loss experience for assets
with credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TEEFHEX®)
(Continued)

(0 ¥IBITE(EE=-Z—+tHF
+-HA=+—-HERANEH
BR) (&)

(g) Financial instruments (accounting policies
applied until 31 December 2017) (Continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity (i) AMEBEREAZHZIRER

securities and other receivables (Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment
loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and bills
receivable included within trade and other receivables,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off against
trade debtors and bills receivable directly and any
amounts held in the allowance account relating to
that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly
are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

i)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction in
progress) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 3()).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of
production overheads and borrowing costs (see note 3(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to accumulated losses and is not reclassified to
profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment (Continueq)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Over the shorter of
unexpired term
of the leases or

— Buildings held for own use

20 to 30 years
— Leasehold improvements 2-5 years
— Pipelines 5-20 years
— Plant and machinery 3-15 years
— Computer equipment 3-5 years
— Furniture and equipment 3-10 years
— Transportation and motor vehicles 4-10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses,
if any. Cost includes the costs of construction of the
buildings, the costs of plant and machinery and interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance these
assets during the period of construction or installation
and testing. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until such time the relevant assets
are completed and are available for their intended use.
When the assets concerned are brought into use, the costs
are transferred to other property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

0

Property, plant and equipment (Continueq)

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of commercially proven development wells but
do not include geological and geophysical costs which are
expensed directly to profit or loss as they are incurred, is
capitalised as coalbed methane development costs within
construction in progress. Coalbed methane development
costs are stated at cost less any identified impairment loss.
Coalbed methane development costs are classified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
on these assets, on the same basis as other property,
plant and equipment assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Tangible assets acquired for use in well drilling works of
ground drainage activities are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 3(1)).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised from the date they are available

for use over their estimated useful lives.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed

annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the
useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and circumstances
continue to support the indefinite useful life assessment
for that asset. If they do not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for
prospectively from the date of change and in accordance
with the policy for amortisation of intangible assets with

finite lives as set out above.

(k) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific
asset or assets for an agreed period of time in return for
a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination
is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement

takes the legal form of a lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

3. FESTHE®E)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)

U]

(ii)

Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases, except
that land held for own use under an operating lease,
the fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at
the inception of the lease, is accounted for as being
held under a finance lease, unless the building is
also clearly held under an operating lease. For these
purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that
the lease was first entered into by the Group, or taken
over from the previous lessee.

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair
value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments, of such assets
are included in property, plant and equipment and
the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges,
are recorded as obligations under finance leases.
Depreciation is provided at rates which write off the
cost or valuation of the assets over the term of the
relevant lease or, where it is likely the group will obtain
ownership of the asset, the life of the asset, as set
out in note 3(i). Impairment losses are accounted
for in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 3(). Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments are charged to profit or loss over the period
of the leases so as to produce an approximately
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Leased assets (Continued)

(ili) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent
rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease term except where the property
is classified as an investment property or is held for
development for sale.

() Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the
case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased:

- goodwill;

—  property, plant and equipment;
—  prepaid land lease payments;

— intangible assets;

— deposits and prepayments; and
— investments in subsidiaries.
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3. FESTHE®E)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash- generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

Under the GEM Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the end
of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria
as it would at the end of the financial year.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller
loss, would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year to
which the interim period relates.
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3. FESTHE®E)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Inventories

(n)

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that contain an equity component
Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number of
shares that would be issued on conversion and the value
of the consideration that would be received at that time
do not vary, are accounted for as compound financial
instruments which contain both a liability component and
an equity component.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(0)

Convertible bonds (Continuead)

Convertible bonds that contain an equity component
(Continued)

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured as the present value of
the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of
initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component is
recognised as the equity component. Transaction costs
that relate to the issue of a compound financial instrument
are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in profit
or loss on the liability component is calculated using
the effective interest method. The equity component is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the note is
converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the capital reserve, together with
the carrying amount of the liability component at the time
of conversion, is transferred to share capital and share
premium as consideration for the shares issued. If the note
is redeemed, the capital reserve is released directly to
retained profits.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount
initially recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(p) Trade and other payables

(@)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Employee benefits

@i

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds required
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance and mandatory central pension
schemes organised by the local government of the
PRC government are recognised as an expense in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Share-based payments

Share options granted by the Company to employees
of the Group in an equity-settled share-based
payment arrangement.

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share option reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using the Binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share
options, the total estimated fair value of the share
options is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will vest.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®E)

(Continued)
(@) Employee benefits (Continued) ( EEEF &)

(ii) Share-based payments (Continueq) (i) ARBREHZ MR E)

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number
of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that
relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the share option
reserve until either the option is exercised (when it
is transferred to the share premium account) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to the
accumulated losses).

Share options granted to consultant in an equity-
settled share-based payment transactions.

Share options issued in exchange for goods or
services are measured at fair values of the goods or
services rendered, unless that fair value cannot be
reliably measured, in which case the goods or services
received are measured by reference to the fair value
of the share options granted. The fair values of goods
or services received are recognised as expenses
immediately, unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets. Corresponding adjustment has
been made to equity (share option reserve).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r

Income tax (Continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®E)
(Continued)
n FiBs® (&)

(N Income tax (Continued)

— inthe case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position initially when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received and that
the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as revenue in profit or loss on
a systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expense.

A government grant that becomes receivables as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
entity with no future related costs shall be recognised in
profit or loss of the period in which it becomes receivable.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.

(t)

(u)

(v)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHE®E)

(Continued)

(w) SRS

(w) Translation of foreign currencies

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”).

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and the presentation currency is RMB.
The reason for using RMB as a presentation currency
is that the functional currency of the principal operating
subsidiaries within the Group is RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair
value was measured.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

(x)

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement
of financial position items, are translated into RMB at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when
the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset
for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

e ISR MEE
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3. FESTHE®E)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

(2)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the Group’s lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(z) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

0)

(V)

i)

(viil

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

U

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered. In addition, trade receivables with
significant balances and credit impaired receivables
are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in note 20.
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4. SEHHE R AR @)

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(a) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group tests annually whether property, plant
and equipment have suffered any impairment in
accordance with relevant accounting policies.
The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. The value-
in-use calculations require the use of estimates
such as the profit forecast, cash flows projections
and pre-tax discount rates. As at 31 December
2018, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment is approximately RMB551,948,000 (2017:
RMB664,994,000) net of accumulated impairment
losses recognised of approximately RMB139,505,000
(2017: RMB100,415,000).

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and tax provisions are set-up accordingly.
The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account changes in tax
legislations. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.
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4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following critical accounting
judgements:

@

(ii)

Renewal of gas business operating permits

The Group holds certain gas business operating
permits with licence period of 3 to 5 years at date
of issue which will be expired in year 2019 to 2022
and the renewal of which is subject to the approval
by the relevant PRC authorities. In the opinion of the
directors, taking into account legal opinion from the
Company’s PRC legal counsel, there are no legal
impediments for the Group to renew its gas business
operating permits upon expiry with insignificant costs.

If the Group were unable to renew these permits
upon expiry, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB551,948,000 (2017: RMB664,994,000) and
prepaid land lease payments of approximately
RMB34,194,000 (2017: RMB35,120,000) might be
significantly reduced because of impairment losses
that would be required to be recognised, and the
Group might increase depreciation and amortisation
charges of those assets where their useful lives are
less than previously estimated, or it might write off or
write down the carrying amount of those assets.

Going concern consideration

The assessments of the going concern assumptions
involve making judgement by the directors of the
Company, at a particular point of time, about the
future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company
consider that the Group has the ability to continue as
a going concern and the major events or conditions,
which may give rise to business risks, that individually
or collectively may cast significant doubt about the
going concern assumptions are set out in Note (3b) to
the consolidated financial statements.
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5.

Revenue from contracts with customers within the

REBMBHREZAF 1558

scope of HKFRS 15 BRAZEFEHNNE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR AR®ETTT
Type of goods or service EmoRIEiESE
Sales of liquefied coalbed gas BILIEEREE 4,578 35,684
Provision of liquefied coalbed gas RRCEE R RS
logistics services 5,223 7,263
Sales of piped natural gas BEBRARIEE 144,979 124,405
Provision of gas supply connection RIEHREERS
services 13,317 11,210
168,097 178,562
Timing of revenue recognition U 25 R RE RS R
At point in time X -EHEHER 154,780 178,562
Over time —BREERNER 13,317 -
Total 168,097 178,562

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method.
Under this method, the comparative information is not restated and was

prepared in accordance with HKAS 18.
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR LOSSES 6. Ht AR KR EE
2018 2017
—E2-N\¥F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AR®ETTT
Other income H{sit A
Interest income from bank deposits RITFERZFEUWA 29 32
Net foreign exchange gain SN Uk 2 F BE 31 -
Rental income HE WA 381 303
Service income AR 75 U A 4,326 -
Value-added tax refund AT E R 13,085 4,003
Sundry income MR 392 603
18,244 4,941
Other gains or losses Hityr 5k E5 15
Gain on disposal of property, HEMEE - WS NERE
plant and equipment = 477 406
Written-off of property, plant and Y IS N AR AN
equipment (23,817) -
Written-off of other receivables i 5 L b 8 U 58 (8,000) (1,561)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary B ER— KB AR
(Note 34) K& 18 (M95E34) - (2,195)
(13,096) 1,591
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LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7. BRBATEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRIERATEEE MR A TSIE
2018 2017
—E-—NF T+
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) E TR A (BIEMzEoH

and chief executive’s HNEERESTH
emoluments in note 9) A £)
Salaries and other benefits e REMER 19,543 24,658
Retirement benefits schemes IRRAE FFT B 3K
contributions 3,678 4,161
Total staff costs* BE TR A 23,221 28,819
Amount excluded staff costs capitalised in construction in progress of * SHETEERNEREIRERNMEZ B ITRALY
approximately RMB Nil (2017: RMB29,000). AREZIL(ZZ—+tF : AR¥29,0007T) ©
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7.

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continueq) 7.

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: (Continued)

BRELAIES 18 (&)

BRIAIEEENRIATEE ()

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR ARETTT
(b) Other items (b) 1B R
Cost of inventories (Note 19(b)) FE 2 A (M aE19(0)) 70,087 81,216
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 25 B 57 B 1,616 2,033
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - R REETE
equipment 70,844 77,805
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEAT b 78 & 2 5
payments 926 817
Operating lease charges in respect of T MIBF Z &KL L
land and buildings =g 596 428
Research and development costs it 7t K B B AR AR 1,929 317
(c) Finance costs (c) BE KA
Interest expenses on bank and other RIT R H M E K
borrowings ZHEMAX 5,558 4,043
Effective interest on convertible bonds A I &% 2 BB F 8 2,259 1,887
Finance charges on obligations under ~ EAEHEREZREER
finance leases 1,479 3,241
Total interest expenses on financial IR A FEF AR
liabilities not at fair value through ZEMBEZNE
profit or loss 2 4B 58 9,296 9,171
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(@

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

8.

mEBBERAZAES

(@) #RAEBEmRAZHRIALRE:

2018 2017
—®-\E  —T %
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Current tax — PRC Enterprise
Income Tax (“EIT”)

BNEA®LIE — PEIEE
FreHi [REMEBH)

Provision for the year NEZEE 1,773 2,738
Deferred tax ERERLIE
Origination and reversal of temporary T EREANRED

differences (1,695) (2,118)
Income tax expense Frigfimz 78 620

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda and, accordingly, is exempted
from payment of the Bermuda Income Tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profits for the year ended
31 December 2018 (2017: 16.5%). No provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from
Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017.

Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant
countries.

ARARERSRSEMMAZILR
BEREENINAREFERE
Henn AUEERRHAMAER
EPTISH

BHE-_ZT-N\FT+A=+—H
IEFEZEBNFHRIR M ER
RaEF 2165% (ZZT—tF:
16.5%) 5t 8 - AR AEBEREBZE
—E-NFERZE—tF+=A
S+t HEFEYERBBES
HIR BB BRI ERTORF -
B R 5 B B RS B4R A e 1
1o

SN B A B B0 AR IR T 1R AR BE
RIITEE TR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 2 —Z— \F+-A=+—HILLFE

8.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(@

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (@)
represents: (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

mEBBERAZIER @)

RAEBmRANZTIEAE  (B)

REABEEAERNFEBDE
RUIEEMRBRED REEME
BOABERGD  TEKE AR B
“EENF-A-RBEZBRER
25% °

Reconciliation between income tax expenses and b) HEAMEFEZMEHALH
accounting loss at applicable tax rates: SEEBEZEHERNT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETTT
Loss before taxation R0 BB 1B (121,855) (66,351)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, LR B AR E A
calculated at the rates applicable MEGTE 2RI EE
to the tax jurisdictions concerned ZERIA (28,903) (14,752)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses N A F0RL R 2 2 Tl 7% 52 2 32,388 6,953
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARMBAZ BB E (296) -
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary RIERLREEZ
differences Mg 2 (488) (3,403)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ KIERFIIAEE 2
R & 2,067 13,332
Utilisation of tax losses previously AR AERZ
not recognised M EE (4,065) -
Over provision in previous year NAFEREBRE (5) -
PRC withholding tax P EITEREL (620) (1,510)
Income tax expense Frisfimz 78 620
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(©

Pursuant to the EIT Law in the PRC, from 1 January 2008,
non-resident enterprises without an establishment or place
of business in the PRC or which have an establishment or
place of business in the PRC but whose relevant income is
not effectively connected with the establishment or a place
of business in the PRC, will be subject to withholding tax
at the rate of 10% (unless reduced by tax treaty) on various
types of passive income such as dividends derived from
sources within the PRC.

Pursuant to the Sino-Hong Kong Double Tax Arrangement
and the related regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax
resident will be liable for a reduced withholding tax rate
of 5% on dividends from a PRC enterprise if the Hong
Kong tax resident is the “beneficial owner” and holds 25%
or more of the equity interest of the PRC enterprise. A
withholding tax rate of 5% is applicable to entities held by
a qualified Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary.

8. MEBHERRNZAEH &)

(©

REFBECEMERE AT
ZENF-—RA—RHE EREEA
ARBRUEBLEEME - HEH
HERBIRAR BB L X
BERG 2 WA BEE R BB AR
BB ERWFERAERBER
ZIHBEREE  BEARZEBKY
WA R BEIR A2 BLE) 1%
10% H = (BR IR B U 1% TR 2)
BARTEFRL

RETEESHRLEREER
o WBEABRERATELE
MIESBEBEA]l  EHBAZTE
BERB%HN EBAER A&
REBHBERETFBELEIRNT
HRE B A] =8 &R R TR
KE5% - AAEE B LML M
BRARAKBZERBZEAMRER
5% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 Z—ET—N\F+-A=+—HIFE

9.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five (2017: six)

directors and the chief executive were as follows:

9. EERBREITHRAEME

ERNRENAE (ZE—LF: <%)
EERERTHRAESAZHMEIT

Salaries, Retirement Equity-settled
allowances benefits  share-based
and benefits  Discretionary schemes payment 2018
Fees in kind bonuses contributions expenses Total
URELER
e DY LE]
2R ERER Btz ZF-N\%¥
e EWET BiETa st R SEACE T At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTz ARMTT AR®TT AR®TR ARETx:
Executive directors BiTES
Wang Zhong Sheng B = 844 = = = 844
Fu Shou Gang S - 85 - - - 85
Independent non-executive  BAUFHTEES
directors
Lau Chun Pong 2IRA 101 - B - - 101
Wang Zhi He FzM 42 - - - - 42
Luo Wei Kun BEE 42 = = = = 42
185 929 - - - 1,114
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERBSTHAEMNE ©)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Salaries, Retirement  Equity-settled
allowances benefits  share-based
and benefits  Discretionary schemes payment 2017
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions EXPenses Total
IARER S
g AR B
2R RIER iz —F—+F
ik ENEh BB FE HREX @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARBTRL  ARETT ARETT ARETL ARETR

Executive directors BiTES
Wang Zhong Sheng B - 867 - - - 867
Fu Shou Gang BEL] - 87 - - - 87

Independent non-executive  BAUFEHTEES

directors
Lau Chun Pong (appointed on 21535
13 November 2017) (R=B—+%
t-A+=H
BZ) - - - - - -
Wang Zhi He T2A 43 - - - - 43
Luo Wei Kun BEE 43 - - - - 43
Pang Yuk Fong resignedon ~ EE%
30 September 2017) (R=B—+%
NAE=THET) 33 - - - - 33
119 954 - - - 1,078
During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, since RBE_Z-N\FR_E—+F+=
the appointment of the chief executive officer of the Company A=1T—BILEFE #HREAQF MK
remains outstanding, no emoluments were paid to the chief ZHEITHBE - A ERARQFITH
executive officer of the Company. BEZTHE -
Salaries, allowances and other benefits paid to or for the XN TFHITEETHRATEET T
executive directors are generally emoluments in respect of those e RMKHMEN —RMNZFA
persons’ other services in connection with the management of THARNBREMBATNEBHBERE
the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries. B -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HiZ —ZE— \F+_-A=+—HLFE
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Neither the chief executive officer nor any of the directors
waived any emoluments in the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017. No inducement payments to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office were paid or
payable to any director or the chief executive officer for the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
one (2017: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
other four (2017: three) individuals are as follows:

9. EERERSITRAEME @)

REBZE_E—N\FRER_FT—+tF+=
A=T—RILFE $ETHREHK
THEEHRETAMHE -REEZ

—NEFEER=_FE—tF+_A=+—H
IEFE - WERERESIITHRES
AN SR FE A5 AR fR] N A AN &R B sk i AR
SER 2 RE S REAE -

10. ZEH AL

AEERLBRSHFALSH  — 4 (=
TrE ML) AEE /Ezm

SRR - EmE (ZF—
Fr=B)ALTzHe@EBENT

2018 2017
—E-—NF T+
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR AREF T
Salaries and other emoluments e kAMBERN 1,061 1,512
Retirement benefits schemes RORAE A ET B K
contributions 67 40
1,128 1,552
The emoluments of the four (2017: three) individuals with the ME(ZE—tF: ZR)&EeF AL
highest emoluments are within the following bands: ZHENFLATEE :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AB N
Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to £ % %771,000,000 70
approximately RMB844,000 (FEERH AR 844,000 7T
(2017: RMB867,000)) (Z2—t: AREHY
867,0007T)) 4 3




11.

12.

—N\EFFER PEREREEERAF]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =%

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been proposed or declared by the directors for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The basic and diluted loss per share is RMB8.01 cents per
share (2017: RMB5.32 cents per share). The calculation of
the basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2018 is based on the loss attributable to equity shareholders
of the Company of approximately RMB105,686,000 (2017:
RMB70,219,000) and the weighted average number of shares
of approximately 1,319,484,000 (2017: 1,319,484,000) in issue
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The calculation for diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 December 2018 is based on the loss attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company of approximately
RMB105,686,000 (2017: RMB70,219,000) and the denominator
used are the same as for the basic loss per share. Diluted loss
per share attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is the same
as the basic loss per share as the effect of potential ordinary
shares from the exercise and conversion of share options and
convertible bonds are anti-dilutive.

11.

12.

e ISR MEE

—NE+ZA=+—-RALEE
EQ/LEA

BE-T-\F+-_A=1T—HL*F
B BFVEZZRNAERBE (=
T—+F:H|) o

BRER

EREALBEEIEEATRAR
801N (ZE—tF  : BRARMS5.32
/73\) HE— “_)\E"f’ H= ‘f’_
HIEFEZSRENBEDRERE
EFE-NF+ZA=+—8HILHF
EARREZRREELHEBEOAR
#105,686,0007C (ZZE—tF : AR
#70,219,0007T) K& 2 1T IR 15 N &
%’-7%(2713194840001&(:?—t
F 1 1,319,484,000 %) st & 15

BHEZZTZ-N\F+ZA=+—HLHF
B2 BREEEIBIREAD A EE
% FE (5 B 1B 4 A R #105,686,000
T (ZE—+4F: AR%70,219,000
T FEB/L MARFEZHEHE
EREXREEER BEZT—\F
KZZ—+tF+=—A=+—HLFE
AAEEERREETRESEER
BREAEBEMRAR  REAERETE
RERERERTRRES BEYE
B BB R EENE -
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13. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker
(the “CODM”), being the Company’s board of directors, for the
purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment.
The CODM reviews the Group’s internal reporting, assesses
the performance and allocates the resources of the Group
as a whole, as all of the Group’s activities are considered to
be primarily dependent on the performance of exploitation,
liguefaction production and sale of natural gas in the PRC.
Therefore, the CODM considers there is only one operating
segment under the requirements of HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments. In this regard, no segment information is presented.

Additional disclosure in relation to segment information is
not presented as the CODM assess the performance of the
sole operating segment identified based on the consistent
information as disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements.

The total segment result is equivalent to total comprehensive
expense for the year as shown in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the total
segment assets and total segment liabilities are equivalent to
total assets and total liabilities as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HiZ —ZE— \F+_-A=+—HLFE

13. 72K

AEENZELEDBINREREFEEE
RREAN(TBEEEERREAN] - BIAR
AEEG)RERNERRBATEM
2EHMNERMETE - ERANEBEDFT
BEERATEXENESBEFHE -
BILEERBEERARNRE  BF
BERRANER LR AEED
NE 2% FEREENRE DR
AEBER At ARLERRA
RRREBEBEVH RS ENFSRL
ENRMMRTE ANEBEES —ELE
DEB e BRULTN T - WEE | D HBEEFY ©

R BEREEERRARELES VK H
RPRENGL BRI M ZE BB
ME—REENF RN FA L EZ7
BRADBERHRBEINIE -

DEERBERBRERN R BER L EM
PHBERMATNAFERHEME
BMoBEERENRDBRERR
AEERGEE M BARRRAREOEE
ENERIE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ—ZE—N\F+=-A=+—HILFE

13. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a

(b)

Geographical information

For the two years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
all of the Group’s revenue and all non-current assets
were derived from customers in the PRC (country of
domicile) and were located in the PRC accordingly, no
further analysis of the Group’s geographical information is
disclosed.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of corresponding years
contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group is as
follows:

13. D2/ %)

(a

(b)

b &

BE-_Z-N\FR-FT—1tF
TZA=+—HIEMEFEE P
BASEZWHENIEREEEY
xERFE(REERR) 8P &
RL PR B - [t I 4 350 BE AN SR 1
WEEMZE—T DN -

FEEFEHR
RIEBEFEE  REHAKEHEZ

XHERBBI0%RNEPZEE
BMEINMT

2018 2017

—E—)N\F T —+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREEFIT

Customer A ZPA 41,861 N/A!
Customer B ®FB 20,533 37,338
Customer C EFC N/A 26,852
62,394 64,190

! The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10% of the total
sale of the Group in the respective year.

! HEKEAAEEAHEFEZHER
BEETHEB10% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HiZ —ZE— \F+_-A=+—HLFE

14. Y% - SRR E

Buildings Furniture Transportation
heldfor ~ Leasehold Plantand ~ Computer and  andmotor Construction
ownuse improvements Pipelines ~ machinery  equipment  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BFER il EWIR
2BF  EBIR BE HEREN 2 BERE GERRG k58 HEIR &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AREBTR ARMTR ARBTZ  ARETR ARETR  ARBTn  ARETR  ARETR
Cost RE
At 1 January 2017 RZF-t5-A-8 167,894 1652 178,665 620,782 30 2072 36,149 138,578 1137012
Addtions HE - - - 24 - 2 8 2,781 23,090
Disposals e - - - - - - (5,764) - (5,764
Deregistration of asubsidlary ~ # 8B 2 —FHB A - - - - 4 - - - (3}
Exchange adjustments EiEE - (51) - - €] @) (121) - (189
A3t December 2017and - RZE—+EFZA=1-H
1 January 2018 RZE-N\5-F-A 157,894 1,601 178,665 621,006 312 2,991 30,316 161,359 1,154,144
Addtions hE 215 - 20 111 - 7 1040 19,110 20,788
Transfers B - - 4,304 - - - - (4.304) -
Disposals e - - - - - () (1,881) - (1,689
Writen off i - - - (35,507) - - (59) (1,939) (38042
Exchange adjustments EiA% - & - - 2 6 8 - 132
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\E+ZA=1-R 168,139 1638 183,179 585,610 314 3,067 26,966 174,206 1135,139
Accumulated depreciation  EiHFERH(E
and impairment
At 1 January 2017 RZ5-tE-A-8 91,759 90 39,408 239,363 24 2375 26,82 7204 408,295
Charge for the year FERH 8,062 310 10574 55,210 10 161 3418 - 77805
Impaiment RE - - - 4408 - 40 - 3881 8329
Witen back on disposals ~~ HiEH - - - - - - (5,09 - (5,099)
Deregistration of asubsidlary BB R—-FHB LR - - - - @ - - - o
Exchange adjustments EiRg - (51) - - @) €] (121) - (183)
At31 December 017 end — RZF-tE+ZA=+-R
1 January 2018 RZ%-\5-A-A 99,821 1239 49,982 299,041 297 2,568 25,001 1,175 489,150
Charge for the year AEESH 8059 310 9,344 51,044 5 170 1912 - 70844
Impaiment HE - - - - - - - 30,000 39,090
Witienback on disposals (£ - - - - - Q) (1,799) - (1,800)
Writen off i - - - (13,633 - - (592) - (14.229)
Exchange adjustments EiAE - & - - 2 6 8 - 132
At 31 December 2018 RZF-\E+ZA=1-A 107,880 1586 59,326 336,452 304 2742 24,636 50,265 583,191
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2018 W=%-NF+ZA=1-H 50,259 5 123,853 249,158 10 325 4330 123,961 551,948
At 31 December 2017 RZF-tE+ZR=1-A 58,073 362 128,683 321,985 1 42 5,280 150,184 664,994
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The buildings held for own use are situated on land held under medium-term
leases in the PRC.

(i) The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

(i) At 31 December 2018, the Group’s building held for own use and plant and
machinery with carrying amount of approximately RMB Nil (before impairment)
(2017: RMB53,210,000 before impairment) and RMB Nil (before impairment)
(2017: RMB66,220,000 before impairment) respectively were pledged.

(iv)  The carrying amount of the Group’s assets held under finance leases at
31 December 2018 of approximately RMB Nil (before impairment) (2017:
RMB66,220,000 before impairment) was included in plant and machinery and
approximately RMB Nil (2017: RMB454,000) was included in transportation and
motor vehicles.

In view of the continuing operating losses of certain subsidiaries
operating in the PRC during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017, the directors of the Company have performed
impairment assessment on these subsidiaries based on cash-
generating units as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. For the
purpose of impairment testing, the subsidiaries in the PRC
are grouped under three CGUs — (i) Guangxi Beiliu, (i) Shanxi
Qinshui and (iii) Yangcheng Huiyang, which the principal
activities are sales of piped natural gas and provision of gas
supply connection services, manufacture and sales of liquefied
coalbed gas and exploration, development and production
of coalbed methane respectively. The recoverable amounts
of these CGUs have been determined by an independent
professional valuer, Asset Appraisal Limited (“Asset Appraisal”)
based on value-in-use calculations. The pretax discount rates in
measuring the amounts of value-in-use range from 25% to 31%
per annum in relation to these CGUs (2017: range from 24% to
27% per annum). There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in prior year. As a result of the impairment
assessment, no impairment loss had been recognised in
respect of property, plant and equipment during the year ended
31 December 2018 (2017: RMB Nil).

14. Y% - WESRRE 2

fi 3 -

() FHEEBRZBFL
ik

BHEZPHRENFEZ

iy AEBEZEEMRFRE-

iy R-TE—NFF+-—A=+—8 AEEFE
BRZEFURKRE RS2 REES I
ARBZT CRERN) (Z2—+F: AR
53,210,000 7T CRLERT)) R ARBEZT T Ol E
A (ZZ—tF : AR#66,220,0007T (B
ERT)) B -

vy RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—H AEHRIE
BEMERBZEEZRAENARBST
ORERT) (ZF—+F : AR#66,220,0007T
CRERD) et A RIER - SHOARKE
T (2T —t4F : ARMA454,0007T) 5t A
BHIARRE-

ERNBE_ZTE-NFEFR_ZE—tF
T A=+ BLEFERFELED
AETHBRAAMNBELEEBE A2
AEFER T NFEERZZT—+LtF
+Z A=+ —BRTRAEBI>KEE
Eiﬁhiﬁﬂﬂ@aﬂﬁ o RETTRAE
BA - ZEWBRARDA-ERSE
Eﬁh—(l)&éﬁit/ﬁi%%‘(u)lJ.lﬁf/b
IKEETE DA K (iil) B B 5 275 o B PR
FTEEBORNABEEEBERARLE
HERERRY SEREER(CE

BRRBE BRRAEXKER - %
FREEEENNTRE S 0B

VEEGHEMPHEEENERRAB
AR ([HEEEENE] REERA
BEFEET iEZSHEELS
I AEEMRANBARFEEN
F25%ZE31% (ZT—HF : FEN
F24%ZE27%) ° FT{E AL 1E 77 &
éﬁiiﬁifalﬁ cEBEMNENER B

- N\F+-_A=+—8HLtEFE"
Iéﬂ?ﬂf%% e R R E R EE
B(ZZ—tF: ARBZIT) o
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15.

(Continued)

However, due to obsolescence, an impairment loss of
approximately RMB39,090,000 (2017: RMB8,329,000) was
recognised in respect of certain property, plant and equipment
included in the Shanxi Qinshui CGU.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, included in
the YangChang Huiyang CGU, certain property, plant and
equipment amounted to approximately RMB23,817,000 was
written off due to wear and tear.

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

The carrying amount of the Group’s prepaid land lease
payments is analysed as follows:

14. Y% - WESRRE 2

15.

A AR BAERE BERLANK
ReELENETHE  HERERE
1 SRR (B B 18 49 A R 5 39,090,000 7T
(ZZF—+F : AR¥8,329,0007T) °

o - RIS BIS IS NE TS
RIE T BBEE ZEBOKRE
EEBEMERLOARKE23,817,0007T
2 MBS N R RS o

ANtES

AEBEEN IS 2 BREE D 710
T~

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®B TR AREETTT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZKHE 35,120 35,937
Amortisation for the year NF G H#H (926) (817)
Carrying amount at 31 December RtZA=+—BZKHE 34,194 35,120
Less: Current portion B BIERER S (871) (871)
Non-current portion FERNEAER 17 33,323 34,249

The prepaid land lease payments are held under medium-term
leases and situated in the PRC.

At 31 December 2018, the Group’s prepaid land lease
payments with a carrying amount of approximately RMBNIil
(2017: RMB16,341,000) were pledged.

The amortisation charges for the year ended 31 December
2018 of approximately RMB926,000 (2017: RMB817,000)
are included in administrative and other expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

BN twEe DT HANEE  H
IR -

RZE-NF+ZA=+—H %&
EEMTHHESZEEENARK
16,341,000 (ZE—+F : AR
17,192,0007T) B -

HE-_ZT-—N\F+_A=+—HL®=F
EEHET BN ARK 26,0007t (—F
—+ & AR#S817,0007T) RiEA 18
mRZITHAL G -
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

T \EER HEREREBEERAF]

16. B EE

Exclusive
right for
piped natural
gas operation

EERARR
ERZ2BRET
RMB’000
AR®TR
Cost %N
At 1 January 2017, RZE—+F—-A—H ZT—tF
31 December 2017 and 2018 kZE-N\F+ZA=+—H 334,811
Accumulated amortisation R RRE
and impairment
At 1 January 2017, 31 December RZZE—+tF—H—R ZE—+t#&
2017 and 2018 KZZE-NF+ZA=+—8H 334,811

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2017 and 2018

BREE
R-Z2—tHERZFT-N\F+ZA=+—H
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 2 —Z— \F+-A=+—HILLFE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continueq)

(a

(b)

Exclusive right for piped natural gas operation
in Beiliu City

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Beiliu
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC and
was amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of 45 years starting from 2009.

The carrying amount of this exclusive right was fully
impaired in 2015.

Exclusive right for piped natural gas operation
in Ruyang County

It represented the exclusive right to operate in gas pipeline
infrastructure and provision of piped natural gas in Ruyang
County, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC and was
amortised as cost of sales on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of approximately 28.5 years starting
from 2011.

The carrying amount of this exclusive right was fully
impaired in 2015.

(a

(b)

16. B EE (&)
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17. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

e ISR MEE

—N\FE+ZA=t+—HILFE

17. Al & R AN KA

2018 2017
—E-N\F TTE—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREFT
Warranty money paid for the acquisition FLEt & EZHE T
of equipment under finance lease WEREI N2
arrangements (note (i)) RES (MFEW) = 14,700
Other deposits for acquisition U B £ b 25
of interests in land (note (ii)) H T2 (B 5E (i) = 10,462
Prepayments A KIB 821 1,185
821 26,347
Notes: B3
[0) On 28 January 2015, [l a0 K IE 2= B2 JR % & B IR 22 &) (transliterated as [0) RZE—RAFE-AZ+NA\R  WWELKIER

Shanxi Qinshui Shuntai Energy Development Company Limited) (“Shanxi
Qinshui”) entered into a conditional equipments with P& @ME R EHF R QA
a] (transliterated as CIMC finance lease agreement in relation to the sale and
lease of Capital Ltd.) (“CIMC”) (“2015 Finance Lease Arrangement”), pursuant
to which, (i) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally agreed to sell and CIMC conditionally
agreed to purchase the certain liquefied natural gas equipment (“Equipments”)
for a total consideration of RMB98,000,000; and (i) Shanxi Qinshui conditionally
agreed to lease from CIMC, and CIMC conditionally agreed to lease to Shanxi
Qinshui, the Equipments for a total lease consideration of RMB114,836,400 for
a term of 36 months by monthly installments inclusive of interest, with a lump
sum handling fee in the sum of RMB980,000. The lease consideration may be
adjusted according to the floating lending interest rate to be promulgated by
PBC from time to time. Shanxi Qinshui shall pay an amount of RMB14,700,000
as warranty money to CIMC. The 2015 Finance Lease Arrangement constituted
a major transaction on the part of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules.
The 2015 Finance Lease Arrangement was approved by the shareholders
by way of ordinary resolution at the special general meeting of the Company
held on 30 March 2015. During the year ended 31 December 2016, Shanxi
Qinshui entered into a supplemental agreement to extend the term for a further
12 months up to February 2019. The warranty money was early refunded during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

(i) The balance represents deposits of RMB10,462,000 paid by the Group for the
acquisition of interests in land located in the PRC which will be held for own
use under operating leases. Pursuant to sale and purchase agreement of the
interests in the land, the Group had to complete land development by 5 August
2018, otherwise the Group’s legal right on the land may be forfeited. In the
opinion of the directors, as the Group has not yet completed the development
and land has been idle up to the reporting period, the recoverability of the
deposit is in doubt and full impairment was provided in impairment on trade and
other receivables for the year ended 31 December 2018.

gEREERARAA (LAWK REHE R
HESERPERERSARAR ([FE]
FriAKHRERERZ(ZE—AFaE
MEHZD B OLELKBEGRE
mﬁﬁ¢§ﬁwwﬂwﬁﬁ%¥wm%%n
=i ([2]) - R E A AR 98,000,000
T R B KB R E R A
MR ERFEERERLFENKERRE &
HENREAAR®114,836,400 7T © 4 HI36
ERENE - Fon ik E a%ﬁ@)-%mf”
FEEA L ARKQ80,000T - HERE
@#¢IAEﬁﬁKM%%mg@WEﬂ
RAEH A o TN KARTRESNARE
14,700,000 T E B IR & & © m#%Mim
BA —E-—AFREREREEAARR
MN—EHEFERSH BREOR=_ZT—HF= ﬂ
STHEERTZAARBREFIARE LALR
m%;m&:% AFpERERE B2
—E-RNFTZA=T-BLFEER WA
SOKET — A B S T EZ 12/ A
EIE-NFZA -HEZZT-N\F+=A
St—ALFERN ZRFBSCIRAMBR -

(i) EREAEHRIEANEEBUE N P B i
BXNZAE %im%mﬁw R RES RS
BER -BELBZERESTHA ~AEEA
RZZB—NFNALAA mﬁﬁzj:ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁé &
AIARRBERZ i E QRN AT RE & 1508
W-EERA ARBEREHMZ LT
AERFAERWRE - RESOATREMESF
ERME YRBEE—Z-NF+_A=1+—
I LE 4 FE R MRORR RN L At I ROR 2 R E
FHEZERE R -
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18. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY

18.

RAREEMBARZHE

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—H E&RQ
31 December 2018 are as follows: AFEEMBARIZFBNET :
Proportion of
ownership interest
e L 1
Place of Particulars of issued
incorporation/ and paid-up Group’s
establishment/ share/registered effective
Name of subsidiary operations capital interest  Direct Indirect Principal activities
ML
R,/ ERTRAN rEE
WEAREE R A/ AMERHEE BB B M IEEK
WEGRIEREEERERAR PRC Registered capital of 100%  100% - Investment holding
(transliterated as Shanxi H HK$83,000,000 RARR
Yangcheng Shunta Energy FHER
Development Company Limited) 83,000,000/ 7T
(“Shanxi Yangcheng Shuntal’)
(notes (a))
(ML ERSIER]) (Fi3 Q)
Shanxi Qinshui PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% - Manufacture and sales
(notes (a) and (d)) H HK$350,000,000 of liquefied coalbed
WALk (T 3E () & (o) AR gas
350,000,000 7 EERBERILRER
ERLRRRARAA PRC Registered capital of 97.5% - 975%  Sales of piped natural
(transliterated as f RMB20,000,000 gas and provision of
Guangyxi Beilu Gas HMER gas supply connection
Company Limited) (note (b)) AR 20,000,000 servioes
(M () HEBERRRRIEMH
HRES RS
Hebei Shuntai (note (a)) PRC Registered capital of 100% 100% - Sales of liquefied
WL IEZR (M3 (a) s RMBS7,280,000 coalbed gas
FHER HERILKER
AE 87,280,000
WEBZMRERAR PRC Registered capital of 83% - 83%  Provision of liquefied
(transliterated as i RMB60,000,000 coalbed gas logistics
Shanxi Wanzhi FHER services
Logistics Limited) AR 60,000,0007 RERILEER
(“Wanzhi Logistics’) (note (c)) miRRE

(T&xmR]) (M)
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OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

18. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

18. ARBEEMBAR ZFHE @)

Proportion of
ownership interest
e LL il

Place of Particulars of issued

incorporation/ and paid-up Group’s

establishment/ share/registered effective

Name of subsidiary operations capital interest  Direct Indirect Principal activities

Y

Rt/ ERTREM F5H

WEAREH RS A/ EMERES ERER EE B IEXK

Hong Kong Chung Wo Energy Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% Investment holding
Investments Limited Bk 18T RERR

RPN REEREERAA

BEEANERERAF PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100%  Sales of natural gas
(transliterated as Luoyang H HK$60,000,000 AARHE
Shunhe Energy Company Limited) HMER
(‘Luoyang Shunhe”) (note (b)) 60,000,000/ 7T
(&R IER]) (B3 (b))

EREERTERERERAR PRC Registered capital of 60% - 60% Exploration,
(transliterated as i RMB30,000,000 development and
Yangcheng Huiyang New FHER production of coalbed
Energy Development ARH30,000,0007 methane
Company Limited) 0 AER
(“Yangcheng Huiyang’) (note (b)) EERER
(TEHER]) (W3 (b))

GREEZEREEERAR PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% Gas distribution
(transliterated as i RMB10,000,000 RARDH
Yangcheng Shun An AMER
Gathering Pipeline AR 10,000,000
Company Limited) (note (a))

(3@

2B ERIRMRBRAE PRC Registered capital of 100% - 100% Manufacturing and sales
(transliterated as Nuoxin (Xian i RMB47,564,900 of PE gas pipelines
County) Engineering Materials FMER EERBERLSE
Company Limited) (‘Nuoxin AR 47,564,900 fEEE

Engineering”) (note b)

(&%) (WD)
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18. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Notes:

(@) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise.

(b) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability enterprise.

(c) Registered under the laws of the PRC as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture.

(d) The registered capital of Shanxi Qinshui was HK$350,000,000, of which

HK$240,000,000 (2017: HK$240,000,000) has been paid up as at 31
December 2017.

18. ARBAEEMBAR ZFHE @)

EEZRRLEARRFIMNBARASETE
FEREERENEEE BERR
REHMGNBARZFIEEEHFR
BRI e

B3 -

@ REREERFMANGBELE -

() WEFEEEIMABRETLHE -

© REGBEEEMADINGELE -

(@ WEEMWKZEME R A350,000,000 %
7T » H 71 240,000,000% 7T (ZF — £ 4 :

240,000,000 L) ER =T —tF+=A
=t—H#f-
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18. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

18. ARBAEEMBAR ZFHE @)

The following table shows information of subsidiary that has
non-controlling interest (“NCI”) material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amounts before

TRINAAEEREA BRI RS
(R 2B AR 2 EHR -
MBEERRE 2 S B AR F M

inter-company eliminations. A, Z &5 o
GRS EEHEREEARAE
(transliterated as Yangcheng Huiyang New Energy Development
Company Limited)
2018 2017
—E2-N\¥F —T—+tF
Principal place of business/country of I B & ¥ b 2 5} PRC PRC
incorporation [DRVAEIER B H
% of ownership interests/voting rights ~ JFEIERERIEB ZFTEE
held by NCI xS BREREED 40%/40% 40%/40%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARETTT
At 31 December: Bn+=—HA=+—8":
Non-current assets JEMBNEE 374,922 430,439
Current assets MENE E 164,208 121,634
Current liabilities e B & (593,505) (565,959
Net liabilities FEE (54,375) (13,886)
Accumulated NCI Rt IEIERR R (21,750) (5,554)
Year ended 31 December: BZE+-A=+—HLEE:
Revenue Wz 70,512 68,925
Impairment loss on other receivables H h fE W R IB R B B 18 (1,284) (3,688)
(Loss)/Profit (B#B/),=# (40,489) 7,969
Total comprehensive income EA PN (40,489) 7,969
(Loss)/Profit allocated to NCI DEEEIEERER 2
(E18) & F (16,196) 3,188
Dividends paid to NCI AT T IR IR i 2 2 AR B = -
Net cash generated from operating KEERBEE R FE
activities 15,133 4,107
Net cash used in investing activities KREFSMACR €58 (53,718) (2,839
Net cash generated from financing BMEEYEA RS FE
activities 36,898 -
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BekBReEEWORD)
cash equivalents #HnFEE (1,687) 1,268
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19. INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of

19. €&
(a) REZEHBERRERAZEE

(b)

financial position comprise:

B

2018 2017

—2-N\¥F T —+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TR AREETTT

Raw materials R 6,731 788
Finished goods BIPK i 630 704
7,361 1,492

The analysis of the amount of inventories (b) CEABBIATFABERZ
recognised as an expense and included in FESHEzZIMAT :
profit or loss is as follows:
2018 2017
—®-N\F T t%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETTT
Cost of inventories sold EEFEZHRAR 70,087 81,216

The cost of inventories recognised included approximately
RMBNIl (2017: RMB4,397,000) in respect of written-downs
of inventories to net realisable value.

MMRFEETERFEERZ
FEXRAHODABEARBEZ L (=%
—+F: AR¥4,397,0007T) °
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

20. FE R BR X I H At F& WK TR

2018 2017
—E2—)N\F TTE—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx ARETF T
Trade receivables JE U BR 3K 7,414 18,807
Less: Provision for impairment B RE R (3,848) (13,609)
3,566 5,198
Bills receivables e Z % 900 300
Other receivables H b fE W 518 16,254 12,840
Amount due from a related JEUR B8 38 A B 5R08
company (note 37(a)(i) (M 5E37(2)(0)) 5,605 3,813
Advances to suppliers B EEEN 1,855 4,848
Prepayment relating to construction HERRAZEE2
expenses SEENEAGE] 19,248 42,473
Other prepayments H b FE RIAE 3,919 7,920
Value-added tax recoverable AT (ER 3,293 3,986
54,640 81,378

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

T8 HA P 5 B W B R N L A R M R OR
R—FRAYEHERRFA
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

20. FEWUR R e H th R USRI (48)

(@) Ageing analysis () BRERDHT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis EWERR (REZEHHRNERR
of the trade receivables, based on invoice date and net of REEB) RmERRZEKRE DT
allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows: (NI N
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREFIT
Within 1 month 1{& A A" 1,153 2,921
More than 1 month but 1{EA#%EIEANR
less than 3 months 34 -
More than 3 months but 31EA&E6E AR
less than 6 months = -
More than 6 months but 6@ A1&1E121E A K
less than 12 months 1,196 1,030
More than 12 months 1218 A& 1,183 1,247
3,566 5,198
The Group generally allows credit period of 30 to 180 REE—Mi TEFI0E180H
days to its customers. The Group may, on a case by case EEH ANEFUEFEEZR L
basis and after evaluation of the business relationship R EEBEREMEEEER  ER
and creditworthiness, extend the credit period upon the PEREREER -
customers’ requests.
(b) Impairment of trade and other receivables (b) BEUWERRREMERNRIEZ

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors are recorded
using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the
impairment loss is written off against trade debtors directly

(see note 3())).

e

FE UL BR 30 2 R (B B 18 TR FR R
BRECEE - MEAREE MU R FIE
B A BEMEARRGUBR AN - FELLIB ST -
3 (BB 18 B B R W AR RS (R
BIEES() °
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(b) Impairment of trade and other receivables

e ISR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ—Z— \F+=-B=+—HLFE
20. FEUWBR RN R H 2 FE WK TE (4)
(b) PEURBRFR I H At FE U FRIE 2

(Continued)

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts for trade
receivables during the year is as follows:

AR (&)

£ PO fE MU BE B 2 R IR 4 2 2
mE

2018 2017

—E-N\E —ZE—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AREEFIT

At 1 January n—A—H 13,609 13,257
Impairment loss recognised ERERRBERSE 1,054 352
Written off as uncollectible AN BT Yk (] T H s (10,815) -
At 31 December ®n+=—A=+—H 3,848 13,609

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected credit loss
provision for all trade receivables. An impairment analysis
is performed at each reporting date using a provision
matrix to measure expected credit losses. To measure
the expected credit losses, these receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the provision rates are based on days past due. The
calculation reflects reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

BE-_Z—N\E+=-A=+—H
I FERBEEBUMBHRELERFE
9%k Z R A
AEEEABBIHE BB
R E LR FOGRAT R E M B EH
SEBBHREBE  ZERG
FLATE B AR R A EATE B
BEERE RESMESERS
HEFE AR B ERETEREER
ERE- BATEEHEEEE
FEWBR R E RIEB G EERRE
BRBHREDE - Rt E R B
TEREAHIESHERBE
B ATARR AR R EOE AR R,
BAMAEBEAER T HNEER -
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade and other receivables
(Continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018 (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2018

20. FE W BR X B2 EL 4th B WK TE (40)

(b) BWARMRKEMEYRREZ

AR (%)

BE-_Z-N\F+=ZR=1-—

I FERBEE BB REER J”
9%k ZBME (&)

VAR 51 85 A 68 AN 5= 8] 7 LA AR SR A6
RBEREENEERRNER

R-F-N\F+ZA=+—H

Expected Gross Net
credit loss carrying Loss carrying
rate amount  allowance amount
JHEFEE FERTH BERE
BiE=x *8 BiERE +8
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARETT ARETIT ARETT
Provision on individual basis BEREE
Over 1 year past due (Note) BEBR1F () 0% 2,191 - 2,191
Provision on collective basis BREREE
Current (not past due) B (REH) 0% 179 - 179
Less than 1 month past due BELREA 0% - - -
1 to 6 months past due BEH1E6EAR 0% 1,196 - 1,196
7 to 12 months past due BEH7TE12@AR 50% - - -
Over 1 year past due BHIERB1F 100% 3,848 (3,848) -
7,414 (3,848) 3,566
Note: PR 5E -

As at 31 December 2018, trade receivables that are individually significant
have been separately assessed for impairment. The Group makes periodic
assessments on the recoverability of the receivables based on the background
and reputation of the customers, historical settlement records and past
experience. The directors are of the opinion that the credit risk of these
receivables is low due to the sound collection history of the receivables due
from them. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of these receivables is assessed
to be close to zero and no provision was made as of 31 December 2018.

RZZE-NF+-RA=+—H BEFKRHEE
WHRRC EBHORETE - AEEREEP
MERLER BELSEELENBELSR
EMFEERRENATERE -EERA
EEE’\TEEF&‘WQETA@ RACER RIT - IB LB

R ERRBRIE - Bt - ZERKHRE
E‘Jfﬁiﬁﬂ1§%l§ﬂéﬁ$fﬁﬁ%?ﬁﬁé? CAEE—
T N\FH A=t HAILEEE -
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20. FEUWBR RN K H 2 FE WK TE (4)
(b) FEUWBRFR R H At B U FRIE 2

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade and other receivables

(Continued)

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31
December 2017

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s trade receivables
of approximately RMB13,609,000 were individually
determined to be impaired which was measured based
on incurred credit losses under HKAS 39. The individually
impaired receivables related to customers that were in
financial difficulties and management assessed that the
receivables were not recoverable. Consequently, specific
allowance for doubtful debts were recognised.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancement over their receivable balances.

Impairment loss on other receivables of the Group of
approximately RMB30,563,000 (2017: RMB5,728,000)
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2018. The individually
impaired other receivables of the Group relate to other
debtors that were in financial difficulties or long outstanding
and is not expected to be recoverable.

The Group do not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancement over their other receivable balances.

AR (%)

BZ-Z—tH+=-A=+—H
IHFERBEEBSFTERE IR
ZRE

R-—ZE—tF+=-—A=+—8"
AEEBLEKRERODBARE
13,609,000 7T I iR IE & B & 5t 2%
A0 E FHEEEREIBERE
RIEEE ARE o 85I E 2 B
HIBHBAMBRE, TFER -
BERBEME A B EBGIETA
WeE o [E it - B3R IR ER R
B -

AN ER [ 30 5 L EL PR W BB A R
BEMERRIEMEERRET
Ho

N6 B E e W IR 2 R E S
B4 AR ¥30,563,00070 (=&
—t & AR¥5,728,0007T) E
REBEZE_T—NF+ZA=+—
AIEFEZHEEEBRRANER -
N B8 Bl R (E 2 H th fE Y kI8
BB AMBERBEIAREEZH
tEHBAER  BHEEARIET
AU E o

75 [ 3P 4 L At FE NGRIB 4 A
BETMER RN EMEEIER
TH-
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are

20. FEWUR R e H th R USRI (48)
(c) Rim{EFEWERK

138 A AR M 51 K H [RRL (B B B Uk
R ZRE D MTANT

as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREFT
Neither past due nor impaired REH R AR BE 1,120 3,221
Less than 1 month past due BHA R E A 34 -
1 to 3 months past due BmE1 =318 A = -
Over 3 months past due B BRI 3 1R A 2,412 2,277
2,446 2,277
3,566 5,498

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management
believed that no impairment allowance was necessary
in respect of this balance as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group did not hold any
collateral over these balances.

R 380 H Ko ARORL (B H FE MR TR S e
REEFP RFEPROBVER
RECER ©

B 78 HIME 1) AR B1E < & WOk TR B2
RAKEHA RIFEBRCEZE
VEFAR - -REBELR &
EEREANEELERTEER
28 BAMAERDERSA 2
gl @ - BB ATL A AR IE L
BERE ARELERZFE
S B EAEA R -
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21 RERBEESEEY

2018 2017
—2-N\¥F —F—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR AREETTT
Cash and cash equivalents ReNBEEEED
— Cash at bank and in hand —RIT R FHERE 17,256 8,572

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately RMB17,057,000 (2017: RMB8,359,000).
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

WBTT 2R S IRIEIRTE B RAIR
F B I BRERFB, « 3R 17 A7
R B R AT TR AR 3 4 R B B 4R
e

RBEBR AEBUARKEE
NESABES2EEDHAARE
17,057,000C (ZZE—+tF: AR
8,359,0007T) - AR ATA BN
REMER  BREREZINEEE
GBI GETE - SE RN ESERTE
NEBEEFBEREREITINEER
ZRITIEARE LMK EME -
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22. B R R E b B S FRIR

2018 2017

—2-N\¥F —F—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTT AREFT

Trade payables FERTER X 133,197 148,593
Amounts due to directors JE 1 & = 508 (M 5E 37(a)(i)

(note 37(a)(i) 8,954 10,171
Amounts due to non-controlling FERTRTE A A 2 FEIERAR R

shareholders of subsidiaries I8 (M5 37(a)(i)

(note 37(a)(i) 10,797 10,797
Accrued expenses and other payables — JE &t 5 St K E fth fE {5 ZUB 47,268 38,463
Payables for acquisition of property, W2 - e Rk

plant and equipment B FRIR 131,327 164,269
Contract liabilities BHEE 11,521 -
Value-added and BT N H th FE A A 18

other taxes payables 2,238 2,331

345,302 374,624
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 22. BRI REMESRE®
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of the RmEHR - BANERGREZAEH)
trade payables, based on invoice date, is as follows: ZERE DT

2018 2017
—E-N\F B —tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFIT
Within 1 month 118 AR 9,013 12,935
More than 1 month but less than 3 1B A%REIEANRN
months 7,419 106
More than 3 months but less than 6 31E A% E61E AR
months = 214
More than 6 months but less than 12 61E A%E12E AR
months 1,056 264
More than 12 months 1218 A& 115,709 135,074
133,197 148,593
The trade and other payables are expected to be settled or JE A AR SR M2 EL D P& < SRIB TE BRAS P —
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on FREERERLBW A BILZERE
demand. B
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23. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

23. SRITRHEAMER

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT AREFT
Secured bank loans repayable AENZBEBIRITER 35,000 9,900
Unsecured other loans EEFEMER 24,200 37,380
59,200 47,280
Analysed as: DITAT -
Amount due within 1 year shown under RENEE T~ —FRNE|H 2 08
current liabilities 54,200 47,280
Amount due within a period more FmBBE—FEIEZ
than 1 year shown under IR
non-current liabilities 5,000 -
59,200 47,280

Notes: B 5
(@) Secured bank loans carry varies interest rate from 5.44% to 7% (2017: 5.8% to (a)
7%) per annum. The bank loans were secured by personal guarantees given by
Mr. Wang and general manager of the Company.
(b) Unsecured other loans represent loans due to non-controlling shareholders (b)

of PRC subsidiaries of the Group and bear interest at fixed rates ranging
from 7.12% to 11.50% (2017: 7.12% to 11.50%) per annum. Interest
expenses on unsecured other loans to non-controlling shareholders of the
subsidiaries amounted to approximately RMB1,767,000 (2017: RMB1,884,000)
to Chengrong Investment (Note 39(c)) and amounted to approximately
RMB2,013,000 (2017: RMB1,525,000) to Yangcheng Yangtai (Note 39(c))
were charged to profit or loss within “finance costs” during the year ended 31

December 2018.

BEMBITERENFEFE44%E7% (=
Tt F 58%ET%) L TEFEGE - R
TEFEELEERANRFALERANEA
FERIEER o

ERAHMEREENASERENEA
AEEBRREZER BN TEF712% %
11.50% (ZFE—+F : 712% E11.50% ) Z
B R R T8 o [ A 7] I 1% A% A% 5 B% Fl
& (M 5£39(c)) KB /% 2= (MI5E39 (o)) 1F
HrERFEMERZHERAZ2 R AL
AR®1,767,0000 (ZTE—HF : ARY
1,884,000 7T) & #) AR % 2,013,0007T (= Z
—tE: AR¥1,5250007T)  CEEBE=
E-NE+-_A=t+—HLFEEHHEER]
Nz Bk e
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24. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 24, MEHEEAE
At 31 December 2018, the Group had obligations under finance RZE-N\F+_A=+—RH K&
leases repayable as follows: BB LA T EEN A R E L) FIE
2018 2017
—F-N\¥F —E—+F

Present Present

value of value of
the Total the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

RERESE REAE REHE HEEE
T REHRE HREE (IHORE BEtE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTRE AREFT ARETT

Within 1 year 1R = - 21,912 23,357
After 1 year but within 1FRE2FNRN

2 years = = 3,849 3,872
After 2 years but within 2FRESFR

5 years - - - -

= = 25,761 27,229

Less: Total future interest 8 : R KA 2 A
expenses BEE = (1,468)

Present value of lease A RIENIRE

obligations = 25,761
The Group leases certain equipment for its operations under the AEBRERERELHBAEE TR
finance lease arrangements as detailed in note 14. These leases HRAREREE FHEHNME 140
are classified as finance leases and have remaining lease term ZEMHEDNDEABMERY - T
of Nil (2017: 14 months). The finance leases were early settled HAE(ZZ—tF:148A) - Z
during the year ended 31 December 2018. EmEMERBEZE-_T—\F+=H

—t—HLEFERRERHES -
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 25. (AR ES

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company
issued HK$ denominated zero-coupon convertible bonds with
principal amount of HK$21,238,440 as part of the consideration
for acquisition of the Nuoxin Engineering Group. The convertible
bonds have a maturity period of 5 years from the issue date and
are convertible at the option of the bondholder into 94,142,021
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company
at a conversion price of HK$0.2256 per share.

The convertible bonds contain two components: liability and
equity elements. The equity element on initial recognition
amounted to RMB10,544,000 was presented in equity as part
of the “convertible bonds reserve”. The effective interest rate
of the liability component of the convertible bonds on initial
recognition was 23.4% per annum.

No convertible bonds were converted during the years ended

31 December 2017 and 2018.

The movement of the liability component of the convertible
bonds for the year is set out below:

HE-_T-—HAF+-A=+—BHLF
EA - RNRBBITVEBITEE . A&
R /521,238,440 8 L2 TR A R E
F MERWEBHRERB ZHBHRE -
AMRESFBETART REER -
BEEFHBEANEERRKRETR
0.2256 # T A R R AR A TR
B 0.01 87T 94,142,021 B E3@A% o

BmRESFBEMESSHN - BERE
wmED c VT AR ERITHOAA
R®10,544,000 7T * IRiEz ASIET 7]
BRESFREE] 2 — 0D VP ER
RAaRkESE B 2 ERF X
5523.4% o

REE-_ZE—+tFR_FT—N\F+=
A=Z+—HIt&E  BEBREKES
o

THEEFABEHRORFAZEEHE
ST

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AREF T

At 1 January Rn—AH—H 9,543 8,316
Effective interest expense charged Bk ERFERX 2,259 1,887
Exchange difference PE 5 Z&E 614 (660)
At 31 December BR+=—A=+—H 12,416 9,543
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26. PROVISION 26. B1E

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®B TR AREETTT
At 1 January Kn—H—H 14,490 12,185
Provision for the year NEERE 2,510 2,614
Amount utilised for the year NEEBA A (354) (309)
At 31 December K+=—HA=+—H 16,646 14,490
The provision for production safety has been determined by the FEREEEHESET  U/FE

directors to meet the production safety standards. HEEZEIFLE-
The comparative amount have been reclassified from accrued RSB RETHAI REMERK
expenses and other payables to conform with current year’s THREI DM ARFE RN FRIMANEE o

presentation and disclosures.
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Deferred tax liabilities recognised

27. BMEMBRAKRAZFABH

The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

CRAZELEHEARAR

REFHRRKRTERNELCHEAR
B2 Bty RERFEREEE T -

Fair value
adjustment
on prepaid
lease
Fair value payments
adjustment for land
on property, under
plantand  operating  Convertible ~ Withholding
equipment leases bonds tax Others Total
BEEAT
nE-BE  ELd
Rz gz
NTERE  ATEEE THRES bk Eftr &gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR
At 1 January 2017 RZE—t&-f—H (3,506) (2,433 (1,767) (3,896) (283) (11,885
Credited to profit or loss SARR - 13 312 1510 283 2,118
Exchange differences ERES - - 111 - - 111
At 31 December 2017 and RIE—tFTZA=T-H
1 January 2018 k=Z2-N\F-A-H (3,506) (2,420) (1,344) (2,386) - (9,656)
Credited to profit or loss iAER 640 63 37 621 - 1,69
Exchange differences B ETE - - (57) - - (57)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\$tZA=1-H (2,866) (2,357) (1,030 (1,769) - (8,018)
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities recognised (Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

27. FBEPBRRRAZFTEH &)

CRRZELEHEARE @)

TSRS M= IELERIRLS
RO

2018 2017
—®-NE T 7
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in RERE M BIRRA R NHER
the consolidated statement of ZIBEERIEAE
financial position (8,018) (9,656)
(8,018) (9,656)
Deferred tax assets not recognised HABRZELERIEBEEE

At 31 December 2018, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of estimated cumulative tax losses carried
forward of approximately RMB155 million (2017: RMB161
million) which are due to expire within 1 to 5 years under the
current tax legislation for offsetting against future taxable profits
of the Group in which the losses arise. The cumulative tax
losses have not been recognised as a deferred tax asset as it is
not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses
can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction
and entity.

RNZZE—-NF+_A=+—H K&
B AERELE G RAREER
(EREBEABEBRELEBBZ —
EFRFREE UAKEAEERERZ
JE R % F) 49 A R 155,000,000 7T
(ZZF—+F : AR¥161,000,0007T)
BEEAMEERIBEE - REHIEER
WAREERBELEHIBEEE - T/BER
ERBERERAER R EE T A8
BB 2 KRR ERBLUR A ©

163



CHINA CBM GROUP COMPANY LIMITED Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 2 —Z— \F+-A=+—HILLFE

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

164

(a) Authorised and issued share capital

28. EXRKfRE

(@) ZFEREBBITRA

2018 2017
—E-N\E¥ e 2
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
KR8 E 28 Rin2E 8
’000 RMB’000 '000 RMB’000
Tk ARBTR Tk ARETT
Authorised ordinary shares of ~ SREE0.017% T
HK$0.01 each: LETEEBR
At 1 January and R—A—BkK
31 December +-A=+—H 20,000,000 174,064 20,000,000 174,064
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.01  — & E{E0.01
each: BT Rk :
At 1 January and R—A—BkK
31 December R+-—A=+—H 1,319,484 10,910 1,319,484 10,910

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.

AR AEANERKRAREIR
ZREERRANFREZLZES
B—RZERE--IBEEBERY
ARBZHNBEEDZEHFE

S o

B
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28. EXRfREE#)

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

U]

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium
The application of share premium account is governed
by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

General reserve

According to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC, each of the PRC subsidiaries is required to
appropriate at least 10% of its after-tax profit (after
offsetting prior years’ losses), based on the PRC
statutory financial statements prepared in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting principles
(*GAAP”) and financial regulations applicable to PRC
enterprises, to the general reserve until the balance
of the fund reaches 50% of the PRC subsidiary’s
registered capital. Thereafter, any further appropriation
can be made at the directors’ discretion.

The general reserve fund can be utilised to offset
the prior years’ losses, or be utilised to increase the
capital on the condition that the general reserve shall
be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital after such increase.

Share options reserve

The share options reserve comprises the portion of
the grant date fair value of unexercised share options
granted to executive directors, employees and
consultants of the Group that has been recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
share-based payments in note 3(q)(ii).

b) EEZHEEREN

U]

(i)

(iii)

R R E
BiaEREAXARE
RANE (—AN—5F) FTRE °

— RS

BRIEFBRBEEERZRER
EhEMBARNEHEBE
FEEIEE  BARBRAR
g RA([AREFRA)
Ko R B 1 3258 A 2 B 7S 48 1
R HBUEEHERE
EEBRBE R L&D
10%1ER—RiFEE EE2E
S EBRERPBRMBA A
AMEARZ50% A1 -Hik
EFURBRATELEMAE
HNBEFR

— 8 1 % T B R IR 9408
4 FERTIR - SR R A
A MEHIMEAE  —RE
RARE T ORERER 2
25% °

BREMRE

BhERBEERTASKE
WITES BENERMNK
TTEBRENR DR RAF
BE D - & EREWME
3(q)(ii) P 4t L LA B £ A = B
BN SR P BR A B & BT R 1T
T LAMERR o
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28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policy set out

in note 3(w).

(v) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represents the surplus
from share capital reduction arising from the capital

reorganisation in 2014.

(vi) Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve represent the value of
unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note

3(n).

(c) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of

capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light
of changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

28. EARRfRE 2
(b) REZHEERBWN &)

(c)

(iv) BEGHE
BERBEEEMEBRERI
EBVBBRRELZERZ
B o M B 1R 1R BRI RE 3(w)
Pl < @5t R BE I

(v) BRARR
ERRBRER_ZT-—UFE
REHEGHIAEIR 2 R °

(vi) AIRESHE
A ESHEEEA QB
TR AR BB F5 B R T
@A 2 BE - ZHERE
B SE3() P8 A & 5t R R BE
e

EXEE

AEBEEEAZTERZERME
RAKEFBEELEZEEN  UA
PRERIRHEE - W ERFHEER
REBREUREESKA -

AREBEEI TE g MEEE
BAGRE NaEEAgESER
[B] ¥k S22 {2 & AR Al AR 2 8
SEEKFZHEBREFE  AEH
ERBEBRBHHENGEENE
HFHE - BEFRFBRENERE -
AEE A ERHBIRN TREZ K
B BITHRILEEEN
AR BT
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28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(c) Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
total debt to equity. Total debt comprises the Group’s
bank and other borrowings, obligations under finance
leases and convertible bonds as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Equity comprises equity
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The total debt to equity ratio as at 31 December 2018 and

28. EXRfREE#)

() EXEE(E)

AREBENBREHEREEER
HEAHERE LAEERAKE
ZRITREMETR - BE L
P& Ko I # BB 75 (047 A& B A5 K
ﬁi'\:zﬁﬁﬂ_‘\) o BEAREE
Hxﬁfwﬁ%\ (47 & BBk

ES —+F+=
+—EZ%E%T% SH &

2017 are as follows:
LN
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E ARBTT AREF T
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 23 59,200 47,280
Obligations under finance BEMEERE
leases 24 - 25,761
Convertible bonds AR (& 55 25 12,416 9,543
Total debt FEN=RE 71,616 82,584
Equity attributable to equity RAE R
shareholders of the JEAE HE A
Company 250,335 344,488
Total debt to equity ratio BEEHERLE 28.61% 23.97%
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29. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 18 May 2011 and will remain in force for a
period of 10 years. The purpose of the Scheme is to attract
and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional
incentive to employees (full-time and part-time), directors,
consultants and advisers of the Group and to promote the
success of the business of the Group.

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as

20, URELEURSGBERZ X

2

AN A R RE R & ([R% a8 )) TR
BARBARER-_Z——FHAA TN
BRITHRRFRNAE L@e %R
EZERM AR +FHRAAFES
Mo et SN BN ZRSI MR EES
AB -AREENEES (28 RFRE) -
E= BRAREHARHKEINER
I e AR BRI ©

(@) RHERRRMRFWT :

follows:
Number of Contractual life
options  Vesting conditions of options
BRERE RBEHHG BREAHEH
Options granted:
BRI ERE
30 May 2011 27,957,078  Vest immediately 10 years
—2-——FRA=+A BB HE i
30 May 2011 5,596,092 50% are exercisable at any time after the expiry of 10 years

1 year from the date of grant up to 2 years from

the date of grant; and 100% are exercisable at

any time after the expiry of 2 years from the date

of grant up to 10 years from the date of offer.
—ZE——FRA=1H 50% FI A B ERRE ST 1 F 2K H B HR W +F

2 HARIBERRTTAE ¢ 2 100% AJ pASX i H BB AT

w2 F R B R EREER 10 F IR R T(E

Total share options granted 33,553,170
BRI ERELH
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29. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows:

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s
share options under the Scheme during the year ended 31

20, URELEURSGBERZ X

2 (&)
(b) BREZEE RMNEFLHT
FEENT :

TREBHE-T-/\F+-A
SH-BULFERHEETZE

December 2018: NEEERES
Number of
Period during share options Exercised Lapsed Outstanding at
which share options  Exercise price  Outstanding at ~ granted during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable per share 1 January 2018 the year the year the year 2018
R=B-N\F R=B-NF
-A-H EREH tZA=1-H
REAY BRETTES  SROERE *7E <BREBE  FRETE  EREXY RITE
HKS$
B
30/5/2011 80/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 381 27,632,328 - - - 27,632,328
30/5/2011 30/5/2012 - 29/5/2021 381 2243378 - - - 2,243,378
30/5/2011 30/5/2013 - 29/5/2021 381 2243378 - - - 2243378
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable
atthe end of year
RERAE 32,119,074
Weighted average
exercise prioe (HKS)
METHHER
(%7) 381 - - - 381
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29. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows: (Continued)

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s
share options under the Scheme during the year ended 31

20, URELEURSGBERZ X
=2 (%)

(b)

BREZSA RMETLET
FEEOT (&)

TREBBE-F—+F T
=+ ALEFER AT A

December 2017: NGl g
Number of
Period during share options Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding at
which share options ~~ Exercise price~ Outstandingat  granted during during during 31 December
Date of grant are exercisable pershare 1 January 2017 the year the year the year 2017
RZE-tF RZB—tF
—-R-8 ERR tZA=1+-A
RiLAH BRETTRSE  SRiTERE AR 2BREER FAEAR FREXR AfTfE
HKS
BT
30/5/2011 30/5/2011 - 29/5/2021 381 27,632,328 - - - 27,632,328
30/5/2011 30/5/2012 - 29/5/2021 381 2,243,313 - - - 2,243,373
30/5/2011 30/6/2013 - 29/6/2021 381 2,243,373 - - - 2,243,373
32,119,074 - - - 32,119,074
Exercisable
atthe end of year
RERAFHE 32,119,074
Weighted average
exercise price (HKS)
METHTRE
(%71) 381 - - - 381

No new share options were granted to eligible participants
under the Scheme during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017.

No share options were exercised during the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017.

BE-T—\FR-F—LF
TZA=T—HLFE #ER
BsrElmaBER2BER DM
R R

BE_Z—N\FER_Z—LtF
T+ A=+ BUHFEBRERRK
MEETTIE o
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29. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) The number and weighted average exercise
prices of share options are as follows: (Continued)

The options outstanding at 31 December 2018 had an
exercise price of HK$3.81 (2017: HK$3.81) and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 2.4 (2017: 3.4) years.

30. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT
PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC participate
in a mandatory central pension scheme organised by the PRC
Government for certain of its employees, the assets of which are
held separately from those of the Group. Contributions made
are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the scheme. The employer’s
contributions vest fully once they are made.

29, UBEEEURS BERZ X

2 (4)

(b) BREZEE RMNEFLHT
FEEOT (&)

RZE-—N\FE+_A=+—H2
RITEBRE ZITHEERI81E
T (ZZFE—+EF:381%8T) ' &
TZMEFHEHFHR24F
ZE—+F 1 34F)

30. EFEEFRIKETE

AEETLEBNELRE G EER
BEZEE REBERIIEREEAT
SMRPI R @B AR E 8 ([5878
EitE]) - BREEFEIEABIULIER
ANEE 2 FEREFURRET S - IRIE R
Bertd BEXREEEAROKE
BHBKAZ5%MBREDSIEL
w8 A2 HBEWA LR &30,000
7B IT ° SRR AT B KK AN S B R
BFE -
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30. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT

PLAN (Continued)

Under the above schemes, retirement benefits of existing
and retired employees are payable by the relevant scheme
administrators and the Group has no further obligations beyond
the annual contributions.

The aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions by the
Group in respect of retirement benefits schemes dealt with in
profit or loss for the year are disclosed in note 7(a) to these
consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its
employees in respect of the subsidiaries outside Hong Kong
and the PRC. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2018 and 2017 in respect of the retirement of its
employees.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

. ERITESE

AEERHEPRNEEERTAEZ

instruments of the Group as at the end of the reporting period FREBELT
are as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F T+ F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx AREEFIT
Financial assets EHBEE
At amortised cost: LA S5 R 7R 51) B
Trade and other receivables & S B 5Kk K L A R IR 26,325 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRSEED 17,256 -
Loans and receivables: ERRERFIE
Trade and other receivables & S B 5% K2 B A P R IR = 22,151
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY - 8,572
Financial liabilities *HAE
At amortised cost: LA S5 K AR5 BR -
Trade and other payables JRE T BR 0 R L b FE AT SRR 306,387 359,265
Bank and other borrowings RITREMERK 59,200 47,280
Obligation under finance leases BB EAE - 25,761
Convertible bonds AR ES 12,416 9,643
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings, obligations under
finance leases and convertible bonds. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include credit risk,
liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and other price
risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner. There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner in
which it manages and measures the risks.

(a) Credit risk

()  As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any
impairment allowance.

(i) In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
of its customers’ financial position and condition are
performed on each major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. The
Group does not require collateral in respect of its
financial assets. Trade debtors are usually due within
30 to 180 days from the date of billing.

32.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. The default risk of the industry and country
in which customers operate also has an influence
on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk as only 8.01% (2017:
3.85%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s five largest customers.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables are set out in note 20.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

(i)

(i)

R.EMIAZHBRABEER
DNE#E)

(@) &R #)

(#&)
$%lﬁﬂ2Eﬁ BREE
REBEPZERNGREE -
REEEBITERERME
CEARZENRBRITEEE
ElRBETE BREREREK-
R|ERR N"EBLESE
AEFEERE  REAZE
WAEBRAARFE Z IR
HELRE28.01% (=ZF
—+F :3.85%) °

FHAAREERBEBBERK
Hth fE WK IE 2 (E B R 2
- ECEEHAME
20 °

HREF T RERRER
FERBEETSEEFRZ
RIT BURBESZEER
RBAR
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32.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to board
of directors’ approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure
that it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

R.EMIAZHBRARBEER

NEEE)
(b) REE SRS

REBEET BULEERER
BEAEEEZEReERE BEHRS
RAZRBREREEE R M
RTEHRET R HEARESS
BEFTFIEE - NEBZHBERRB
EH %%mﬁ'&?ﬁu+2//lb%b§i
Bk REBTERERHEZIE
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables set out the weighted average effective
interest rate and the remaining contractual maturities at the
end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at
the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the

Group can be required to pay:

R.EMIAZHBRABEER
DNE#E)

(b)

RBEERR®)

TREINAEB ZFTESHE
BER|EHR 2 INEFHERFN

ERBTANE  HERE

IR

MRBRER (BREERAHNEK
2 (WIRT B) ImBEMRZHIT
MERFBZHMENFT) RAEH
ATEEZEFARMETE :

2018 ]
Z8-)\¥ 51E
Morethan  More than Total More than More than Totd
Within -~ yearbut ~ 2yearsbut  contractual Within Tyearbt  2yeashut  contractuel
Effective 1 year or less than less than  undiscounted Carying Ffctive Tyearor less than kssthan  undiscounted Camying
interestrate  on demand 2years Gyears  cashflows amount  inferestrate  on demand 2 years yeas  cashiows amount
1R ol 15/ ah
g% 1EME oML AERRe JEE 1ENL ENL AEERR
RRHE  ERRE oMM SEMR WEEE L1 X W sEIm T
%  RMBOO0  RMB'0O0  RMB'O0  RMBOO0  RMB'000 % RVB000 RVB000 RMBI000 RVB000 RVB'000
% ARKTR ARBTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARETR % ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Trade payables NA 133,197 133,197 133,197 148,593 - - 148,593 148,593
Amounts due to directors NA 8,054 8,054 8,054 10171 - - 10,171 10,171
Amounts due to
non-controling
shareholders of subgidiaries NA 10,797 10,797 10797 NATEE 10,797 - - 10797 10,797
Accrued expenses and EiAk
ofher payables NA 2,112 2112 212 NATER 8% - - 28,92 28,92
Payabes for acouistion VEGERE I
of property, plant and R EHIE
equipment NA 131,327 131,327 131327 NATER 164,269 - - 164269 164,269
Bank and other boowings FrREhER (i)
note 23) 544%t0 7% 56,987 5183 62,120 0200 58%to115% 50864 - - 50,864 47.280
Obigatons under ance RARSAE ()
Ieases (note 24) NA = - © 1020% 2837 3812 - 2029 25,761
Comertlsbonds poie2s) TR ER (it 2s) B4 1740 17400 12416 %4% - - 1740 1740 9543
363,024 2583 385,907 378,003 47013 3872 17400 158,265 45376
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates to primarily
to its fixed-rate borrowings. The cash flow interest rate
risk of the Group relates primarily to their variable-rate
bank deposits and obligations under finance leases. The
management considers that the exposure to interest rate
risk on bank deposits is insignificant. For borrowings which
are fixed-rate instruments is insensitive to any change
in interest rates. A change in interest rates at the end of
the reporting period would not affect profit or loss. The
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the
fluctuation of the interest rate to be promulgated by the
People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) arising from the Group’s
RMB denominated obligations under finance leases. The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate

exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2018, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in the interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group’s loss for the year by
approximately RMBNIl (2017: RMB365,000). The sensitivity
analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s loss for the year that would arise in respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest risk arising from floating rate

obligations under finance lease held by the Group.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk

U

Exposure to currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
All foreign exchange transactions involving RMB
must take place through PBOC or other institutions
authorised to buy and sell foreign exchange. The
exchange rate adopted for foreign exchange
transactions are the rates of exchange quoted by
the PBOC that would be subject to a managed float
against an unspecified basket of currencies.

Foreign currency payments, including the remittance
of earnings outside the PRC, are subject to the
availability of foreign currency (which depends on
the foreign currency denominated earnings of the
Group) or must be arranged through the PBOC with
government approval.

The group entities collect most of the revenue
and incur most of expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange is
insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions
are denominated in the functional currency of each
individual group entity. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign exposure
should the need arise.

U
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

U

(ii)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s major monetary assets
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are as follows:

R.EMIAZHBRARBEER
DNE#E)

(d) EERRKE

U

Bt R BEIE(E)

R EHR - NEE AAERA
EEERNEEB UG
B EEBMEENERE
(EVERNE

Exposure to foreign currency

IS [ e AR AR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AREF T
Cash and cash equivalents RekASEED
— Hong Kong dollars —B7T 173 189
Sensitivity analysis
yanay (i) BBESH

The following table indicates the approximate change
in the Group’s loss for the year and accumulated
losses in response to reasonably possible changes
in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period.

TRHF RBEHKR - K
SEARFEEENRSER
RERNEEE R E R R AE
ERZ AR BEEHEME
HEZOES -

2018 2017

= % “T-tfF
Increase/ Effect on loss Increase/  Effect on loss
(decrease) after (decrease) after
in foreign  taxation and in foreign taxation and
exchange accumulated exchange  accumulated
rates losses rates losses
HHEER HEieEE
ExEH REHEE Ex LA/ RARHER
(FE%) i 1 (T) 2B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
Hong Kong dollars AT 5% ©) 5% ©)
(5%) 9 (5%) 9
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had occurred at the end of the reporting period and
had been applied to the Group’s exposure to currency
risk for financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant. Results of the analysis as presented
in the above table represent an aggregation of the
effects on each of the group entities’ loss for the year.
The stated changes are used when reporting currency
risk internally to key management and represent
management’s assessment of reasonably possible
changes in foreign exchange rates over the period
until the end of the next reporting period. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for 2017.

(e) Other price risk

Oil and gas price risk

Apart from the financial instruments disclosed above, the
Group’s activities expose it to market risk relating to oil and
gas price risks.

The Group is engaged in a wide range of gas related
activities. The global oil and gas market is affected by
international political, economic and global demand for
and supply of oil and gas. A decrease in the world prices
of cruel oil and gas could adversely affect the Group’s
financial position. The Group has not used any derivative
instruments to hedge against potential price fluctuations of
crude oil and refined and gas products. The management
will consider hedging oil and gas exposure should the need
arise.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR R.EMIAZHBERREER
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NEEE)
(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continuead) (d) E¥REKE &)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued) (i) BHREDH(Z)
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined J:L@SZ JE DT TR ER IMNE
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates MERFFNREIARE AL -
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EZ%@I&%FZTM@
- BIRERATAEMEH L
Emﬂ)%%$“ B -
EREINZ D MERRKY
EEBEERTFREN B
BZERPE LHREHRN
MEI2EEEANBERER
REREER KREEEY
SMEEERREET —ERSE
HRIEHBzAREERS)
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— L FHER L EEETT -
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AHRXARER R
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

() Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 December 2018 and 2017
except for the following financial instruments, for which
their carrying amounts and fair value and the level of fair
value hierarchy are disclosed below:

R.EMIAZHBRARBEER
DNE#E)

(f)

AFENE

RIE-NFR-_T—tF+=
A=1t—B NEERKAZH
HAARIR 2 2T AZREE
HEENVERBEEAEZR I
TERT AR EEREERA
FEUARRAFESZHRZERKE
LI

2018 2017
—E-N\¥ —T—tF

Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
REE DFE FHEE NS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE AR®BTR ARET T AREFT

Financial liabilities tHaE

Convertible bonds AR ESE 12,416 17,294 9,543 14,243
The fair values of the liability component in convertible AR EFEEHN 2 AFETD

bonds are estimated as being the present values of future
cash flows, discounted at interest rates based on the
government yield curve as at the end of the reporting
period plus an adequate constant credit spread, adjusted
for the Group’s own credit risk.

EEHERAKEREREZRE
MARE S RETIRBER RS B
R Z TR U ol 4R A K2 58 J2 1 ~F
RZEESERMNERFTHRAE
YERARE B HFEERRE
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R.EMIAZHBRARBEER

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

DNE#E)

(Continued)
(f) Fair value measurement (Continued) ( AFEFEE)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed EWFENFEEE

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2018 categorised into

R-B-NE+ZR=+-B%A

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2017 categorised into

R-B—tET-A=1-A%5B

WTFERIZATERE TRz AT ERE

Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level3  Farrvalue Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

ATE F1 28 ERE NE £18 EVE 38

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETT ARETR ARETT AR&Tn
Liabilities B

Convertible bonds EkRES 16,673 - 16,673 14,043 - - 14,043

33. COMMITMENTS 33. RIE

(@ In addition to the finance lease arrangements as detailed
in note 17, the Group had the following significant capital
commitments contracted but not provided for in the
consolidated financial statements:

(@ FRMFE17TFAFFzREHERH
Sh s REBRERE MWK F]
HIMER B 2 BRE AL -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETTT
Acquisition of property, plant and W% BB REE
equipment (including construction (B 3EERE T12)
in progress) 43,012 43,012
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33. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in
respect of office premises are payable as follows:

33. A& (&)

b)) RMEMKR REBIAEDERZ
THAHEELHORN 2 Bi&&
EEEFCRATMT -

2018 2017

—E-NF T+

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®B TR ARKETTT

Within 1 year 1R 204 282
After 1 year but within 5 years 1FRESFRN 25 302
319 584

The Group leases a property held under operating lease
with initial lease term of one to three years. None of the
leases includes contingent rentals.

34. DEREGISTRATION OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
deregistered Xian Country Lun Shun Energy Development
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary in the PRC which

AEBREEHOEEYE - 1
WEMA—E=F - AEALL
THAEAHAEE -

34. —EM B AT MEERT
REZE-T—tF+-A=+—Hi

MRFE AEBBHEEL —RET
B 0 IE 2 B B & AR R

was inactive. IERERBRAF]
RMB’000
ARETF T
Property, plant and equipment Y - MBS NERE 1
Other receivables H A & R IB 2,194
Net assets of deregistered subsidiary BIEELNNB AR EEFE 2,195
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary BB —HfBATNEE 2,195

The subsidiary deregistered during the year ended 31 December
2017 had no significant impact on the turnover and results of
the Group

REE-_ZE—+F+=-A=+—HIt
FREBHEELOMEB AR S KERD
BEENEENBESEATE -
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35. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

36.

OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities during the year:

Bank and other

5. FEBREREBRWE

METHELEEEEH

Ti%ﬁlJﬂ_’\KEVK%Eﬂiéfiﬁéb%E

Total liabilities
Finance lease from financing

borrowings payables activities

|MITR B MEEEBELE

HifER REMRLN HEEE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREF T AR®ETTT AR®ETF T

At 1 January 2017 R-_E—+F—H—H 40,080 45,559 85,639

Interest paid RN PR 4,043 3,241 7,284

Changes in cash flows ReRE® 3,157 (23,039) (19,882)
At 31 December 2017 and W -ZT—+4

1 January 2018 ‘i'_ﬂf‘i' A X

—N\F—H—H 47,280 25,761 73,041

Interest expense recognised EEE B H 5,558 1,479 7,037

Changes in cash flows Rehea® 6,362 (12,540) 6,178)

Non-cash changes IR & & F) - (14,700) (14,700)
At 31 December 2018 R_ZT—)\F

+=—A=+—H” 59,200 - 59,200

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 36. EEEHA

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s shareholding in Shanxi
Qinshui were pledged. Details of the Group’s pledge of other
assets are included in notes 14 and 15 respectively.

There was no pledge of assets as at 31 December 2018.

R-ZEBE—+E+-A=+—H K&
BRI KB IREE /B - A&
Bz H & EEIR IS0 RIS 5
14 %15 °

RZE-NFT+_A=1t—8 %%
B EEEERIEERNER -
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
directors are of the view that the following are related parties of

the Group:

Name of party Relationship

KGR EBRE Effectively owned 17% equity
£ /A &) (transliterated as interest in Wanzhi Logistics
Shanxi Qinshui Prefecture as a non-controlling
Chengrong Investment shareholder of a subsidiary.
Limited) (“Chengrong
Investment”)

GGG REEEXE Effectively owned 20% equity
fR /A 8] (transliterated as interest in Yangcheng
Yangcheng Yangtai Group Huiyang as a non-controlling
Industrial Company Limited) shareholder of a subsidiary.
(“Yangcheng Yangtai”)

BN B R BE R T AR 7S B BR  Effectively owned 20% equity

A 7] (transliterated as interest in Yangcheng
Zhengzhou Zhengcheng Huiyang as a non-controlling
Energy Technology shareholder of a subsidiary.
Service Company Limited)

(“Zhengzhou Zhengcheng”)

3. EXBEALIRS

Bz 22— N\Frk-_ZT—+F+_-H
“t+—BIEFE EERAETNNEA
AAREEZBEEAL:

FRAgLEE RE

KGR E ER —HBWE A A
EREMERA FEBRBRRER
(ERIEE]) BMEBIZYRH

17% IR AN HE %5 ©

Bk FfmmEm® ER —HK B A F
EXBRRR ZHERRRE
(IBHER]) BHREEBHERS

#920% A& AN #E 2 o

WINEKEER (ER—HH B LA
RRGER < FEBRBERE

NGIRQR: PN Sk A GRS
=12 4)) B 20% R NS o
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. EXBEALTR S (&)
(Continued)

(a) Balances with related parties (a) BEHRAEA LT 248
RZE—NERZE—+tF+=
A=+—8 A&EEERAXRFH
FiE AT BT -

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group and the
Company had the following balances with related parties:

() Amount due from a related company () ER—EEEXRRE
Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the year
FRES
KREESHE
2018 2017
—E-N\¥ —E—+tF
Name of related party RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BAEALRE ARETT AR®EFTT AR®BTT
Yangcheng Yangtai f5 % /% 2= 5,605 3,813 5,605
The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and ZEE

(ii)

(iii)

repayable on demand.

Amounts due to directors/non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Other borrowings

(i) BEES MWEQEZFE
PR IR R R
REFEBRFBARBEER R
BRARENREE -

(i) HAbfERK

2018 2017

—2-N\F —E—tF

Name of related party RMB’000 RMB’000
BREALRE AR®B TR ARETTT
Yangcheng Yangtai B5 i 5 2= - 13,080
Chengrong Investment 2% g 1% & 24,200 24,300
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
and the chief executive as disclosed in note 9 and certain
of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 10, is

37. EXBEALRS (#)

(b) TEEEAE 2 M

AEEBXTZEEABZHH (B
T‘Eﬁ%‘JEAﬁT%EQ&MTEE1OT)§E§Z

ENARRES

SITHAB

EET xm%ﬁmuﬁ/\zlr I8) 0

as follows: N
2018 2017
—E2-N\F E— 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTR ARETTT
Short-term employee benefits HEEBE AR 2,175 2,685
Post-employment benefits BB R ER 67 40

Total remuneration is included in FNezEsT AIE T A

“Staff costs” (Note 7(a)) (F5E7(a) 2,242 2,625

(c) The Group entered into the following material related party
transactions during the years ended 31 December 2018

) B2 T NFR_FT—tF
TZA=+—HILFE ~&H

and 2017: BT ERBEALRS :
2018 2017
Name of related party Nature of transaction —E-—NF —E—+4F
BEAEALRE REHE RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARKETTT
Yangcheng Yangtai Loan interest expense 2,013 1,525
15 ¥4 5% 2= EXAERAX
Chengrong Investment Loan interest expense 1,767 1,884
B E XA ERXZ
(d) Other transactions with related parties (d BEREAT2HMBZS
As set out in note 28, as at 31 December 2018, Mr. WM EE23 AT ER - M — \F

Wang has guaranteed bank loans made to the Group of
approximately RMB5,000,000.

tZA=+—H IRERLAE
® 2 iRATE 4 AR 5,000,000

TCAEHHELR -
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. "D A Z B Bk &
THE COMPANY
2018 2017
—E—N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment E T YN 939 1,026
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZI’E 80,033 231,201
80,972 232,227
Current assets mENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE U B [ R B Fk B 158,128 180,430
Amount due from a director fEU = £ FIE 2,829 2,909
Prepayment and other receivables TE A 3RIE K E A e WO IR 736 632
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEYD 197 171
161,890 184,142
Current liabilities mENBE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT BB A R FIE 18,643 11,593
Amounts due to directors B EEHRIE 1,507 1,315
Accrued expenses and other payables &=t & A & E b FE {5 A 3,901 3,411
24,051 16,319
Net current assets MBEERE 137,839 167,823
Total assets less current liabilities @B ERAHEE 218,811 400,050
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Convertible bonds A R fE 5 12,416 9,543
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBEEE 1,030 1,344
13,446 10,887
Net assets BEFE 205,365 389,163
Capital and reserves BEARRGEE
Share capital [ 10,910 10,910
Reserves {1 194,455 378,253
Total equity R 205,365 389,163
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on EEERN_T-NAF=-A=-ttA
27 March 2019. R -
Wang Zhong Sheng Fu Shou Gang
T HE SR
Director Director
2 BE
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

39.

THE COMPANY (Continued)

38. KRB M BMRREK (&)

Reserves f#E
Share  Convertible
Share  Translation Contributed option bonds Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve losses Total
CE: L3
RIVEE HERE ZHER ERERR GHRE  2HER ait
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AERTR AREBTRT ARMTR AR¥TR ARMTR ARETn ARETx
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE-\E-A-BEH (668,084) 2,008 1,384,004 30,849 8662  (379,776) 378,263
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - (01330 (201337)
Other comprehensive income TERAMEERA
for the year - 17,539 - - - - 17,539
Total comprehensive 0ss AEERART LR
for the year - 17,539 - - - 01387) (183798
Balance at 31 December 2018 RIE-N\F
TZR=1-H&R (668,084) 20,147 1,384,004 30,849 8652  (581,113) 194,455

IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2018, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Jumbo
Lane Investments Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI
and wholly owned by Mr. Wang Zhong Sheng. Jumbo Lane
Investments Limited does not produce financial statements

available for public use.

39. HER QAR RBRAERE

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—H EF
RRANEEEEE QR R&ZERT
REBREFRAA  HREBRX
HEEAMRIEHERBRELERE
B -BEREARARILEREMD
RIER 2 EHREK -
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RESULTS ES
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-B=t+—-HLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“B-\f -—T+tf ZT-R"FE C=ZT-1F ZT-M%E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARMTT ARETRT ARETRE ARETR
Revenue Iz 168,097 178,562 218,879 329,120 301,119
Loss from operations REEXBELECER (73,469) (48,851) (88,382) (44,971) (64,559)
Finance costs BBER (9,29) 9,171) (10,925) (14,324) (16,057)
Loss on extinguishment of THeRBGECER
financial liability = - - - (57,024)
Impairment loss on goodwil BERNERRE - - - (3,551) (104,298)
Impairment loss onintangible & B EREEE
assets = - - (134,385) (138,702)
Impairment loss on property, W WA N
plant and equipment REEE (39,090) (8,329) - (92,086) -
Loss before taxation BRI AIE R (121,855) (66,351) (99,307) (289,317 (380,640)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fiis® (%) /#H% (78) (620) (3,077) 34,291 38,324
Loss for the year AEEER (121,933) (66,971) (102,384) (255,026) (342,316)
Attrioutable to : THIfE :
Equity shareholders KRAERRE
of the Company (105,686) (70,219) (101,002) (235,949) (333,348)
Non-controlling interests R ER (16,247) 3,248 (1,382) (19,083) (8,968)
Loss for the year AEEEE (121,933) (66,971) (102,384) (255,026) (342,316)
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERERE

At 31 December

®+=A=+-H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—F-N\f -T-tf C-T-R¥f CZT-1EFf CZT-WmF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARMTT ARETRT ARETRE ARETR
Total assets BEE 668,220 819,903 922,135 1,031,530 1,283,223
Total liabilities BaR (444,995) (486,278) (503,999) (511,126) (548,147)
223,225 333,625 418,316 520,404 735,076
Attributable to; Nl

Equity shareholders of the KRAERRE
Company 250,335 344,488 432,247 533,133 728,722
Non-controlling interests RS (27,110) (10,863) (14,111) (12,729) 6,354
223,225 333,625 418,136 520,404 735,076






